
HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 
 

 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Licensing Sub-Committee (3) 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 31 March 2022 

   

Time: 
 

 10.00 am 

   

Venue: 
 

 Rooms 18.01 - 18.03 - 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, 
SW1E 6QP 

   

Members:  Councillors: 

  Jim Glen (Chairman) 
Barbara Arzymanow 
Aziz Toki 

   
 

  Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting and 
listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda. Admission to the 
public gallery is via a visitor’s pass which is available from the 
main ground floor reception at 64 Victoria Street from 9.30am. If 
you have a disability and require any special assistance, please 
contact the Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of 
the meeting. 

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone wearing 
a hearing aid or using a transmitter. If you require any further 
information, please contact the Committee Officer, Sarah 
Craddock, Committee and Councillor Co-ordinator. 

Email: scraddock@westminster.gov.uk  Tel: 07790980186 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 

 
 

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
Regarding Item 2, guidance on Declarations of Interests is included in the Code of 
Governance. If Members and Officers have any questions, they should contact the 
Director of Law before the meeting please. 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report any changes to the membership.  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 

 

 Licensing Applications for Determination  

1.   MICBAR KARAOKE AND RESTAURANT, BASEMENT, 46 
GERRARD STREET, W1D 5QH 

(Pages 1 - 98) 

 Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Application 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

St 
James’s 

West 
End* 

None** 

Micbar 
Karaoke and 
Restaurant, 
Basement, 46 
Gerrard Street, 
W1D 5QH 

New Premises 
Licence 

21/10964/LIPN 

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 

 

2.   145 -147 EDGWARE ROAD, W2 2HR (Pages 99 - 
158) 

 Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Application 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

Hyde 
Park 

None* 

Edgware 
Road** 

145 -147 
Edgware 
Road, W2 2HR 

New Premises 
Licence 

21/14599/LIPN  

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 

 



 
 

 

3.   AMERICANA, BASEMENT AND GROUND FLOOR, 11-12 
HAYMARKET, SW1V 4BP 

(Pages 159 - 
190) 

 Ward 
CIA* 
SCZ** 

Site Name & 
Address 

Application 
Type 

Licensing 
Reference No. 

St 
James’s 

None* 

West 
End 
Buffer** 

Americana, 
Basement and 
Ground Floor, 
11-12 
Haymarket, 
SW1V 4BP 

New Premises 
Licence 

21/14563/LIPN 

*Cumulative Impact Area 
** Special Consideration Zone 

 

 

 
Stuart Love  
Chief Executive 
23 March 2022 
 



 
 

 

In considering applications for Premises Licences under the Licensing Act 2003, the Sub 
Committee is advised of the following: 

Policy Considerations 

The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to the City of Westminster 
statement of Licensing Policy, effective from January 2021. 

Guidance Considerations 

The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State under Section 182 the Licensing Act 2003.  The most recent version 
was published in April 2018. 

Core hours When Customers Are Permitted to Be on The Premises  

Core hours, as set out in the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2021, are when 
customers are permitted to be on the Premises. The maximum opening hours permitted 
will not exceed the start time and terminal hour for each of the days where licensable 
activity is permitted.  

Note: The core hours are for all licensable activities but if an application includes Late 
Night Refreshment, then the starting time for that licensable activity will be 11.00 pm. 

1. Casinos  

Up to 24 hours a day whilst Casino Gaming is permitted by a Premises Licence under 
the Gambling Act 2005.  

2. Cinemas, Cultural Venues and Live Sporting Premises 

Monday to Sunday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

3. Hotels 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours  
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sale of alcohol to guests for 
consumption in hotel/guest rooms only: Anytime up to 24 hours 

4. Off licences 

Monday to Saturday:  08:00 hours to 23:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 

5. Outdoor Spaces 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

6. Pubs and bars, Fast Food and Music and Dance venues  

Monday to Thursday:  10:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday: 10:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 



 
 

 

Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 12:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

7. Qualifying Clubs  

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

8. Restaurants 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday: 09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

9. Sexual Entertainment Venues and Sex Cinemas 

Monday to Thursday:  09:00 hours to 23:30 hours 
Friday and Saturday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 
Sunday:  09:00 hours to 22:30 hours 
Sundays Immediately Prior To A Bank Holiday:  09:00 hours to 24:00 hours 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



page 1

Agenda Item 1.



page 2



page 3



page 4



page 5



 
Non-Standard Timings: From the end of permitted hours on NYE to the start of 
permitted hours on New Years’ Day 
 

The premises is located within the West End Cumulative Impact Area and as such various 
policy points must be considered namely CD1, PS1, PN1, CH1 and including CIP1 and HRS1.  
 
The Licensing Authority notes within the operating schedule that the intended use of the 
premises is a Karaoke venue and restaurant in the basement. The operating hours applied for 
licensable activities currently fall outside of Westminster’s core hours. For premises for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises and other licensable activities, the Licensing 
Authority encourage that the applicant reduce the hours to be within Westminster’s Core hours 
under HRS1 Policy; 
 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm.  
Friday and Saturday: 9am to 12am.  
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm.  
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am. 
 
The premises currently benefit from a separate premises licence (16/08131/LIPV) for all floors 
including the basement and the Licensing Authority encourage the applicant to provide 
submissions on the questions below. 

1. Why wasn’t the current licence varied? 
2. Why is there a separate application for this premises? 
3. Will this licence (16/08131/LIPV) be varied to remove the basement area? 

 
The applicant has proposed the below conditions in their operating schedule;  
 
1. The licensable activities authorised by this licence and provided at the premises shall be 
ancillary to the main function of the premises as a karaoke venue and restaurant.  
 
 2. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person:  

 (a) attending the premises for karaoke entertainment; or  

(b) seated taking a substantial table meal there and for consumption by such a person as 
ancillary to their meal.  
  
The Licensing Authority would encourage the applicant to provide further submissions as to how 
the premises is going to operate in the basement as it is a bit confusing to where the restaurant 
will be located as the plans seem to be sectioned into separate rooms.  
 
The Licensing Authority has concerns with the Karaoke part of the application as it could be 
drinks led and would like the applicant to answer the below questions to be able to access the 
application further. 

1. Will the karaoke sessions/bookings be time limited e.g. can only book sessions for a 
maximum of up to 2hrs a day/night? 

2. How many sessions can someone book a karaoke session for in one day/night? 
3. If the sessions are limited how are these monitored and controlled? 
4. During the karaoke sessions/bookings will food be ancillary to the sale of alcohol? 

 
The Licensing Authority also encourages the applicant to provide further submissions as to how 
the premises will not add to cumulative impact in the West End cumulative impact area, in 
accordance with policy CIP1.  
 
The Licensing Authority would like submissions from applicant in regard to the above questions 
so the application can be accessed further against any further relevant policy considerations.  

page 6



page 7



page 8



applications. 
 

Policy COMB1(B) 
applies 

B. Applications inside the West End Cumulative Impact Zones 
for premises that propose to operate as a ‘combined use 
premises’ will be considered on their merits and subject to:  
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, 
PS1, PN1 and CH1.  
2. The hours for licensable activities for the relevant premises 
use being within the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1.  
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or 
latenight refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery 
of Alcohol and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1.  
4. The applicant demonstrating that they will not add to 
cumulative impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone.  
C. When considering what weight is to be given to the relevant 
uses and policies the Licensing Authority will take into account: 
1. Whether it will undermine the licensing objectives.  
2. The current and proposed use of the premises.  
3. When those uses will take place.  
4. What the primary use of the premises is or the uses that will 
take place in different parts of that premises.  
5. Whether there would normally be a presumption to refuse 
an application for that use if it was operating as that premises 
type and not a combined use premises.  
6. Whether the hours sought for the all or parts of the premises 
are within or outside the Core Hours.  
D. The Licensing Authority will take into account, when 
considering the application, the relevant considerations from 
each of the appropriate premises uses policies within this 
statement  
E. For the purpose of this policy a Combined Use Premises 
means premises which require a premises licence and where 
there is more than one premises use, and where the uses are 
not dependent on/ or part of the other uses i.e. are not 
ancillary to the other uses. 

Policy CIP applies A. It is the Licensing Authority’s policy to refuse applications within 
the West End Cumulative Impact Zone for: pubs and bars, fast food 
premises, and music and dancing and similar entertainment, other 
than applications to:  
1. Vary the hours within Core Hours under Policy HRS1, and/or  
2. Vary the licence to reduce the overall capacity of the premises.  
C. Applications for other premises types within the West End 
Cumulative Impact Zones will be subject to other policies within this 
statement and must demonstrate that they will not add to cumulative 
impact.  
D. For the purposes of this policy the premises types referred to in 
Clause A are defined within the relevant premises use policies within 
this statement. 
 

 

page 9



page 10



page 11



 
Premises Plans             Appendix 1 
 
 

 

page 12



 

page 13



 

page 14



 

page 15



 

page 16



 
 

page 17



 

page 18



 
Premises Licence 16/08131/LIPV         Appendix 2 

 
 

 

page 19



 

page 20



 

page 21



 

page 22



 

page 23



 

page 24



 

page 25



 

page 26



 

page 27



 
 

 
 

page 28



 
 

 

page 29



 
 

 

page 30



 

page 31



 

page 32



 

page 33



Applicant Supporting Documents Appendix 3 

Page left blank 

page 34



LICENSING ACT 2003 

APPLICATION FOR A PREMISES LICENCE REFERENCE 21/10964/LIPN 

MICBAR LTD 46 GERRARD STREET, W1D 5QH 

________________________________________________ 

 

APPLICANT SUBMISSIONS 

 

________________________________________________ 

Introduction  

1. The premises will operate as a restaurant and karaoke venue within the basement of an existing 

Chinese restaurant licensed under premises licence reference 16/08131/LIPV.   

2. The restaurant on the upper floors, now trading as “Food House”, is under the same ownership 

of the applicant company and was recently very positively reviewed by Jay Rayner of the 

Guardian1.  The current premises licence application in respect of the basement does not affect 

the existing premises licence reference 16/08131/LIPV for the upper floors.   

3. Persons attending the basement premises will only be supplied alcohol ancillary to a table meal 

or karaoke entertainment controlled by way of proposed conditions 1 - 3: 

1. The licensable activities authorised by this licence and provided at the premises shall be 
ancillary to the main function of the premises as a karaoke venue and restaurant. 

 

2. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person:  
 

a. attending the premises for karaoke entertainment; or 
 
b. seated taking a substantial table meal there and for consumption by such a 

person as ancillary to their meal.  
 

For the purpose of this condition a ‘Substantial Table Meal’ means - a meal such as might be 
expected to be served as the main midday or main evening meal, or as a main course at either 
such meal and is eaten by a person seated at a table, or at a counter or other structure which 
serves the purposes of a table and is not used for the service of refreshments for consumption 
by persons not seated at a table or structure servicing the purposes of a table. 

 
1 https://www.theguardian.com/food/2022/feb/06/food-house-london-restaurant-review-jay-rayner  

page 35



 

3. The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress service only. 
 

4. The application follows pre-application advice reference 21/07949/PREAPM. 

Statement of Licensing Policy 

5. The proposed restaurant use can be considered under policy RNT1.  Karaoke entertainment is 

defined in the glossary, although there are no specific policies addressing karaoke venues in the 

current Statement of Licensing Policy.   

6. The introductory section of the Policy states that “if the proposed operation of a premises does 

not meet all or part of the definition within the premises uses policies the licensing authority will 

have regard to the policy that most closely relates to that operation”2.   

7. The applicant therefore invites the Licensing Sub-Committee to consider the proposals under 

Policies RNT1, CCSOS1 and/or COMB1.  These policies do not include a presumption to refuse 

in the West End Cumulative Impact Zone.  When applying the introductory section of the Policy 

to the specific proposals, with particular regard to conditions 1 - 3 outlined above, the 

application should not be considered under Policies PB1 or MD1. 

8. The applicant therefore invites the Licensing Sub-Committee to determine that there is no 

presumption to refuse the application under policy.  Notwithstanding, the remainder of these 

submissions will seek to demonstrate why the premises will not add to cumulative impact in the 

West End. 

9. The supply of alcohol will be ancillary to the provision of substantial table meals and karaoke 

entertainment.  Policy paragraphs A2 recognises the significant cultural and financial benefits 

of the entertainment industry to the City of Westminster.  Policy paragraph A4 states that “the 

council believe that good management of its vibrant entertainment industry and of the street 

environment within which it operates is essential to the continued success of Central London in 

attracting a wide-range of people who want to come here to live, work and visit”.   

10. The premises is located in the heart of Chinatown.  Food and karaoke are integral components 

to Chinese culture and community.  Paragraph B4 of the policy recognises “the important role 

 
2 Page 5 policy 

page 36



that licensed premises play in local communities; reflecting the needs of local communities in 

making the most appropriate strategies for their area”.   

11. It follows that the Licensing Authority’s public sector duty is engaged when determining the 

application.  Granting an application authorising this type of entertainment, in this specific 

location to this community, would promote the Licensing Authority’s public sector duty under 

section 49 of the Equality Act 20103. 

Representations 

12. A 24-word representation has been made by a local resident  

, as follows: 

there is already too much alcohol entertainment in Soho area, more KTV will cause more noise, 

alcohol or even crime on the local street. 

13. The premises is located in Chinatown but the local resident cites concerns about alcohol 

entertainment in Soho. 

14. The local resident lives some distance away from the premises and is therefore unlikely to be 

affected by noise breakout or by persons dispersing to the nearest transport links: 

 
3 Policy paragraph B33 

page 37



15. The applicant has written to the local resident to explain the application proposals further and 

offer a meeting to discuss their concerns. 

16. Representations have also been lodged by the Environmental Health Consultation Team and 

Licensing Authority. The applicant understands that the Responsible Authorities’ concerns 

primarily relate to Policy. 

Licensing Objective Policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 

17. The applicant has proposed a comprehensive operating schedule of model conditions to ensure 

the promotion of all four licensing objectives.   

18. In addition, the applicant has agreed further conditions with the Metropolitan Police.  The Police 

have since withdrawn their representation leaving no concerns under the prevention of crime 

and disorder licensing objective. 

19. The premises is located at basement level. Robust sound proofing works will be implemented 

to ensure no noise outbreak between karaoke rooms. This also means that no noise will 

emanate from the premises and therefore promote the prevention of public nuisance licensing 

objective. 

Cumulative Impact Policy CIP1 

20. The presumption to refuse in Policy CIP1 does not apply to restaurants or premises where the 

supply of alcohol is ancillary to entertainment.  The application is therefore not subject to a 

presumption to refuse, although the applicant is required to demonstrate that the proposals 

will not add to cumulative impact in the West End.   

21. The application is consistent with the key objectives of Policy CIP1 outlined in paragraph D9 

(emphasis added): 

“The Licensing Authority’s view is that cumulative impact in the West End Cumulative Impact 

Zone arises mainly from the numbers of pubs and bars, music and dance premises and fast-

food premises.  The licensing authority wishes to encourage a provision of a range of cultural 

entertainment premises, where this is suitable to reduce the extent of dominance of pubs, bars, 

nightclubs and fast-food premises within the West End cumulative impact zone”. 

page 38



22. The application is made in accordance with this Policy objective and does not undermine the 

underlying reasons for the Policy4.  The premises will not operate as one of the higher risk 

category of premises identified by Policy CIP1.  Instead, the premises will introduce a cultural 

entertainment venue and food premises which reduces the extent of opportunities for vertical 

drinking in the West End5. 

23. Policy paragraph D26 recognises that cultural venues and entertainment uses provide “real 

positive benefits to the area”.  For example by “providing a wider entertainment offer, other 

than alcohol” to a varied customer base a premises can “provide positive benefits to the local 

community and visitors”.  Where the higher risk activity, such as the sale of alcohol, is ancillary 

to the main function of the premises and is limited in offer it is recognised that a premises “is 

significantly less likely to have an impact on the licensing objectives” 6. 

24. Policy CIP1 therefore recognises that where alcohol is ancillary to a lower risk activity, for 

example the provision of table meals or cultural entertainment, a premises is unlikely to add to 

cumulative impact.  Instead, these types of low risk premises contribute to Westminster’s wider 

cultural entertainment offer and have a positive impact to the local area, its residents and 

visitors.   

Core Hours Policy HRS1 

25. The application proposes licensable activities outside the hours recommended by policy HRS1.  

Policy paragraph E3 states:  

“these are not policies to refuse applications for hours longer than the core hours, and 

consideration will in all cases be given to the individual merits of an application.  Where a 

proposal is made to operate outside these core hours each application will be considered on its 

merits made against the criteria as set out under each policy”.   

26. The application does not propose licensable activities beyond 1.00 am.  The 2016 Statement of 

Licensing Policy highlighted an increased likelihood of impact on the licensing objectives after 

1.00 am.7 

 
4 Policy paragraph D16 
5 Policy paragraph D17 
6 Policy paragraph D26 
7 2016 Statement of Licensing Policy paragraph 2.5.14 

page 39



27. The applicant seeks to address the criteria set out in policy HRS part B as follows:  

1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 
associated with the likelihood of the effect of the grant of a licence for later or earlier hours 
on crime and disorder, public safety, public nuisance and the protection of children from 
harm. 

 
So far as the applicant is aware, there are no outstanding concerns under the licensing 

objectives or relevant policies by officers, which are addressed above and by the comprehensive 

operating schedule of conditions. 

2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone they have demonstrated that 
they have taken account of the issues identified in that area and provided adequate 
mitigation. 
 

The premises is not located within a special consideration zone; 

3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of the premises that would 
likely be adversely affected by premises being open or carrying out operations at the hours 
proposed. 

 
So far as the applicant is aware, no residential accommodation in the immediately proximity of 

the premises is likely to be adversely effected by the proposed hours 

4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when customers will be permitted to 
remain on the premises. 

 

The application proposes a closure of the premises 30 minutes after licensable activities cease 

to allow a “wind down” period and controlled dispersal. 

5. The proposed hours when any music, including incidental music, will be played. 
 

The proposed hours include the provision of regulated entertainment to ensure alcohol remains 

ancillary to karaoke.  The premises is well suited to regulated entertainment at sub-terranean 

level and will be sound proofed to ensure adjoining karaoke rooms do not leak sound to one 

another. 

6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take food or drink outside the premises or be 
within open areas which form part of the premises. 

 
Customers will not be permitted to take food or drink outside the premises.   

page 40



The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation of the premises (if any) and 

hours of licensable premises in the vicinity. 

 
The premises is in an area characterised by late-night activity beyond the proposed hours, which 

has high ambient levels of noise late at night. 

7. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public transport when arriving at and 
leaving the premises, especially at night. 
 

The premises is extremely well serviced by public transport links right through the day and night. 

8. The capacity of the premises. 

The capacity of the premises will be limited to approximately 50 (excluding staff), subject to a 

final fire risk assessment and approval by the environmental health consultation team. 

9. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to impact the licensing 
objectives than others; for example, pubs and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and 
other cultural and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation. 
 

The type of use, being a food lead and karaoke venue, as outlined above, is not likely to impact 

upon the licensing objectives.  The premises will not operate as a high-risk premises identified 

by the policy, for example a pub or bar. 

10. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active measures proposed for a ‘winding 
down’ period including arrangements for people to be collected from the premises to travel 
home safely. 
 

The proposed hours include a “winding-down” period to facilitate a controlled closure and 

dispersal of the premises.  The applicant will implement a dispersal policy to ensure customers 

leave the premises quietly and make their way home safely. 

11. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply of alcohol for consumption 
on the premises ceases a suitable period of time before customers are required to leave the 
premises. 
 

As above, the applicant has proposed a closure time 30 minutes after alcohol sales cease. 

12. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours if, after review, it is 
necessary to impose conditions specifying shorter hours in order to promote the licensing 
objectives. 
 

page 41



The applicant is confident that the premises will not adversely impact upon the licensing 

objectives and is aware that the licensing authority may reduce hours following a review of a 

premises licence. 

13. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and justified as part of the 
application to allow responsible authorities and interested parties to evaluate the impact 
that these licensable activities may have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of 
applications for later hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into account that later hours 
are generally granted for preceding Sundays and that the next day is a working day. Non-
specific days are expected to be covered by Temporary Event Notices or variation 
applications. 
 

The applicant has only proposed non-standard hours on New Years Eve.  The applicant may 

utilise temporary event notices for special occasions, for example Chinese New Year and other 

events in the Chinese calendar. 

Summary  

28. The applicant invites the Licensing Sub-Committee to grant the application accordingly.  In doing 

so, the Licensing Sub-Committee achieves the Policy CIP1 objectives set out in paragraph D9, 

which seek to encourage cultural entertainment that contributes to Westminster’s reputation 

as a world class city8. 

 

 
8 Policy paragraph F8 

page 42



page 43



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

RedBox 

46 Gerrard Street

page 44



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Inspiration

Wuxing (五行), usually translated as Five Phases or Five Elements (Fire (火 huǒ), Water (水 shuǐ), Wood (木 mù), Metal (金 jīn), and Earth 
(土 tǔ)), is a conceptual scheme that many traditional Chinese fields used to explain a wide array of phenomena. 

The project is a modern interpretation of traditional chinese values
It is perceived as a place where anyone could escape from the busy city life. 

The five elements are implemented into the character of each of the rooms providing a unique way of experiencing space through Chinese 
philosophy.  Braking away from everyday schedule one could enjoy a karaoke night choosing from 3 differently themed rooms.

page 45



page 46



page 47



page 48



page 49



page 50



page 51



page 52



Entrance
-

page 53



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Up the stairs 
-

page 54



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Waterfall close view
-

page 55



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Lobby looking at the stairs
-

page 56



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Lobby wide view
-

page 57



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Corridor view 1
-

page 58



page 59



page 60



page 61



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Proposal
Metal roompage 62



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Metal  room view

page 63



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Wood

page 64



page 65



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

References - Wood

Ic
ha

 C
ha

te
au

  S
pa

ce
m

en

Se
rg

hi
i M

ak
hn

o 
an

d 
Va

si
liy

 B
ut

en
ko

 
RE

ST
AU

RA
N

T 
IN

 K
ie

v 
RE

ST
AU

RA
N

T

At
 D

io
r, 

G
ar

de
n 

of
 E

ar
th

ly
 D

el
ig

ht
s

H
en

ri 
Ro

us
se

au

page 66



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Proposal
Wood room

page 67



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Perspective
Summer

page 68



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Frontal
Summer

page 69



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Fire Water

page 70



page 71



page 72



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Proposal
Fire | Water room

page 73



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Perspective
-

page 74



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

TV view
-

page 75



page 76



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Bathroom frontal
-

page 77



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Bathroom perspective
-

page 78



© Creative Prototyping /Unit

Bathroom corridor
-

page 79



Project Materialspage 80



page 81



page 82



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Thomas & Thomas Partners LLP s a m ted ab ty partnersh p reg stered n Eng and & Wa es under number OC363873.   A st of 
members s ava ab e for nspect on at our reg stered off ce at 38a Monmouth Street, London WC2H 9EP.  Thomas & Thomas Partners 
LLP s regu ated by the So c tors Regu at on Author ty under number 561362. 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
18 March 2022 
 
 
 
Dear  
 
Application for a Premises Licence - 46 Gerrard Street Chinatown - 21/10964/LIPN 
 
We hope that this letter finds you well. 

Westminster Council have provided us with a copy of your representation in respect of our client’s 
premises licence application.  Thank you for taking the time to comment on our client’s proposals.   

Our client has noted your concerns about alcohol entertainment venues and would like to reassure you 
that the predominant activity in the premises building will remain a food-led restaurant throughout, 
together with proposed karaoke entertainment in the basement.  The proposal for a premises licence 
would allow alcohol to compliment the food and entertainment offer only.  Our client would like to 
reassure you that the premises will not be an alcohol-led venue.   

Our client has proposed a comprehensive schedule of conditions with the application and agreed further 
conditions with the Metropolitan Police, which will safeguard the promotion of the licensing objectives 
and avoid any disturbance to the local community.   

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you would like to discuss the application further or arrange a 
meeting with our client.   

Thank you for your consideration of this letter. 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Jack Spiegler 
Thomas & Thomas Partners LLP 
tel: 020 7042 0413 
email: jspiegler@tandtp.com 

Your ref:  
Our ref: JS 

38a Monmouth Street 
London  WC2H 9EP 

te : 020 7042 0410 
fax: 020 7379 6618 

page 83



 
Premises History (16/08131/LIPV)          Appendix 4 

 
 
 
Application 
 

 
Details of Application 

 
Date Determined 

 
Decision 

10/06711/LIPN New premises licence 20.10.2010 Granted under 
delegated authority 

16/03690/LIPT Transfer – Shun Bun 
Lee to Mr Xiao Yu Song 
and Mr Qi Sai 

27.04.2016 Granted under 
delegated authority 

16/03751/LIPDPS Variation of DPS 29.04.2016 Granted under 
delegated authority 

16/08131/LIPV Variation – update of 
layout plans 

07.09.2016 Granted under 
delegated authority 

 
There is no appeal history 

page 84



 

 
Appendix 5 

 
CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Mandatory Conditions 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises 

supervisor in respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor 

does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who 

holds a personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry 

out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the 
premises. 

 
(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the 

following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require 

or encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol 
sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in 
which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or 
otherwise); 

 
(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 

discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in 
a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage 

or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or 

page 85



less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing 
objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, 

or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to 
condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects 
of drunkenness in any favourable manner; 

 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than 

where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a 
disability). 

 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 

customers where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that 

an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the 
sale or supply of alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must 

ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with 
the age verification policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be 

under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to 

produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their 

photograph, date of birth and either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on 

the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up 

in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available 

to customers in the following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material 

which is available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of 

alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are 
available. 

 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence 
in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 
18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  
For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 

page 86



 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 

off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 
1979; 

 
(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 

 
P = D+(DxV) 

 
Where - 

  
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     

were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if 

the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the 
alcohol; 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 

force a premises licence - 
   

(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, 

or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    

alcohol under such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply 
in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 

Added Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this 

paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph 
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the 
nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by 

Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the 
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the 
rate of duty or value added tax. 

(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or 
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days 
beginning on the second day. 

 

page 87



Conditions consistent with the operating schedule 
 
9. The licensable activities authorised by this licence and provided at the premises shall be 

ancillary to the main function of the premises as a karaoke venue and restaurant.  
 
10. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person:  

(a) attending the premises for karaoke entertainment; or  
(b) seated taking a substantial table meal there and for consumption by such a person 
as ancillary to their meal.  

For the purpose of this condition a ‘Substantial Table Meal’ means - a meal such as 
might be expected to be served as the main midday or main evening meal, or as a main 
course at either such meal and is eaten by a person seated at a table, or at a counter or 
other structure which serves the purposes of a table and is not used for the service of 
refreshments for consumption by persons not seated at a table or structure servicing the 
purposes of a table.  
 

11. The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress service only.  
 
12. Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking water, shall be 

available in all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption 
on the premises.  

 
13. (a) The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the 

minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team.  
(b) All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person 
entering in any light condition.  

(c) The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable 
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises and will include 
the external area immediately outside the premises entrance.  

(d) All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time 
stamping.  

(e) Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of 
Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31-day period.  

 
14.  A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV 

system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff 
member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent 
CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.  

 
15. A noise limiter must be fitted to the musical amplification system and maintained in 

accordance with the following criteria:  

(a) the limiter must be set at a level determined by and to the satisfaction of an 
authorised Environmental Health Officer, so as to ensure that no noise nuisance is 
caused to local residents or businesses,  

(b) The operational panel of the noise limiter shall then be secured by key or password 
to the satisfaction of the authorised Environmental Health Officer and access shall only 
be by persons authorised by the Premises Licence holder,  

(c) The limiter shall not be altered without prior written agreement from the 
Environmental Health Consultation Team,  

(d) No alteration or modification to any existing sound system(s) should be affected 
without prior knowledge of the Environmental Health Consultation Team, and  

(e) No additional sound generating equipment shall be used on the premises without 
being routed through the sound limiter device.  

 

page 88



16. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall 
emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 
premises which gives rise to a nuisance.  

 
17. All windows and external doors shall be kept closed after 23:00 hours, or at any time 

when regulated entertainment takes place, except for the immediate access and egress 
of persons.  

 
18. Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits requesting patrons to respect the 

needs of local residents and businesses and leave the area quietly.  
 
19. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 

minutes before the scheduled collection times.  
 
20. No waste or recyclable materials, including bottles, shall be moved, removed from or 

placed in outside areas between 23:00 hours and 07.00 hours on the following day.  
 
21. No collections of waste or recycling materials (including bottles) from the premises shall 

take place between 23.00 and 07.00 hours on the following day.  
 
22. A Challenge 21 or Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises 

where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic 
identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the 
PASS Hologram.  

 
23. A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The record should include 

the date and time of the refused sale and the name of the member of staff who refused 
the sale. The record shall be available for inspection at the premises by the police or an 
authorised officer of the City Council at all times whilst the premises is open.  

 
24. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an 

authorised officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours 
of the incident and will record the following: (a) all crimes reported to the venue  

(b) all ejections of patrons  

(c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder  

(d) any incidents of disorder  

(e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons  

(f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment  

(g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol  

(h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.  
 
25.  The premises licence holder shall ensure that any patrons smoking outside the premises 

do so in an orderly manner and are properly supervised by staff so as to ensure that 
there is no public nuisance or obstruction of the public highway.  

 
26. No licensable activities shall take place at the premises until the premises has been 

assessed as satisfactory by the Environmental Health Consultation Team at which time 
this condition shall be removed from the Licence by the licensing authority. Where there 
have been changes to the premises layout updated plans shall be lodged with the 
Licensing Authority.  

 
Conditions proposed by the Environmental Health 
 
None 

page 89



 
Conditions proposed by the Police and agreed by the applicant so as to form part of the 
operating schedule. 
 
27. There shall be a minimum of one SIA licensed door supervisor Thursday Friday and 

Saturday, between 20:00 until the premises has closed and all customers have left. 
They shall wear a hi viz yellow tabard or jacket and display their SIA licence at all times. 
At all other trading times, the requirement for security shall be risk assessed. The risk 
assessment shall be immediately available for inspection by the Responsible Authorities 
upon request. 

  
28. There shall be no admittance or re-admittance to the premises after midnight except for 

patrons permitted to temporarily leave the premises (e.g. to smoke, make a phone call). 
  
29. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke or 

make a phone call, shall be limited to (6) persons at any one time. 
  
30. Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke or 

make a phone call, shall not be permitted to take glass containers with them. 
  
31. A copy of the premises’ dispersal policy shall be made readily available at the premises 

for inspection by a police officer and/or an authorised officer of Westminster City 
Council.  

  
32. There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the premises after 20:00 hours on 

Thursday, Friday and Saturday when the premises are authorised to sell alcohol. 
  

page 90



 
Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity    Appendix 6 

 

 
Resident count: 142 

page 91



 
 

Licensed premises within 75m of 46 Gerrard Street, W1 
 

Licence Number Trading Name Address Premises Type Time Period 

16/08131/LIPV 
Real Beijing 
Restaurant 

46 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QH Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

20/00303/LIPDPS 

The Canton 
Chinese 
Restaurant 

11 Newport 
Place London 
WC2H 7JR Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 01:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 02:00 

15/04836/LIPN 
(Shadow 
Licence) 

Basement To 
First Floor 47 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5QJ 

Premises 
Licence - 
Shadow 
Licence 

Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 02:00 | 
Sunday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 

17/09229/LIPT New China 

48 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QL Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 23:00 | 
Monday to 
Wednesday; 
10:00 - 00:00 | 
Thursday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Good Friday; 
12:00 - 01:00 | 
New Year's 
Day; 10:00 - 
01:00 | New 
Year's Day; 
12:00 - 01:00 | 
Good Friday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Christmas 
Day; 12:00 - 
01:00 | 
Christmas 
Day; 10:00 - 
01:00 

19/02952/LIPDPS Ikkyu 

Ground Floor 
Rear 7 - 9 
Newport Place 
London WC2H 
7JR Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

page 92



06/08111/WCCMAP Imperial China 

Wheeler House 
25A Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BA Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

19/10436/LIPCH 
Loon Fung 
Supermarket 

Basement 
Ground And 
First Floor 42 - 
44 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QG Shop 

Sunday; 10:00 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
08:00 - 23:00 

13/03887/LIPDPS 

New Loon Fung 
Chinese 
Restaurant 

Above Floor 42 
- 44 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QG Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

19/12734/LIPDPS 

Wan Chai 
Corner Chinese 
Restaurant 

Tang House 3 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5PD Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

19/02786/LIPVM 
Leongs Legend 
II 

26 - 27 Lisle 
Street London 
WC2H 7BA Restaurant 

Monday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Tuesday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Wednesday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Friday; 10:00 - 
00:30 | 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Sunday; 10:00 
- 00:30 

19/13273/LIPVM Pepper Lime 

Basement To 
First Floor 25 
Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BA Restaurant 

Monday; 
11:30 - 23:00 | 
Tuesday; 
11:30 - 23:00 | 
Wednesday; 
11:30 - 23:00 | 
Thursday; 
11:30 - 23:00 | 
Friday; 11:30 - 
23:30 | 
Saturday; 
11:30 - 23:30 | 
Sunday; 11:30 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
11:30 - 23:30 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
11:30 - 00:00 

page 93



18/02226/LIPDPS Feng Shui Inn 

4 - 5 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PF Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

21/01595/LIPV Ku Bar 

29 - 30 Lisle 
Street London 
WC2H 7BA 

Night clubs and 
discos 

Monday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Monday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Tuesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Tuesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Wednesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Wednesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Friday; 10:00 - 
01:00 | Friday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Sunday; 12:00 
- 22:50 | 
Sunday; 12:00 
- 22:50  

16/13677/LIPVM 
Beijing 
Dumplings 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 
23 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BA Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 03:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 03:00 

16/12748/LIPT 
Lido Chinese 
Restaurant 

41 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QF Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 02:00 

20/10151/LIPCHT 
Young Cheng 
Restaurant 

22 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BA Restaurant 

Sunday; 10:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 01:00 

page 94



21/07119/LIPDPS Oversea 

Ground Floor 7 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5PH Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

19/00966/LIPDPS 
Haozhan 
Restaurant 

Basement To 
First Floor 8 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5PJ Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

15/08900/LIPDPS 
See Woo 
Supermarket 

Ground Floor 
18 - 20 Lisle 
Street London 
WC2H 7BA Shop 

Sunday; 10:00 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
08:00 - 23:00 

17/01541/LIPN 
Gourmet 
Kitchen 

34 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BD Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 23:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 00:00 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 
12:00 - 00:30 | 
New Year's 
Eve; 00:00 - 
00:00 

21/10966/LIPVM 
Kiwa Sushi  &  
Grill 

1 Gerrard Place 
London W1D 
5PA Restaurant 

Monday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Tuesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Wednesday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Friday; 10:00 - 
01:00 | 
Sunday; 12:00 
- 01:00 

11/03693/LIPN 
New Loon 
Moon 

9 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PL Shop 

Monday to 
Sunday; 10:30 
- 20:00 

16/09657/LIPVM Suki 

39 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QD Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

06/12504/WCCMAP Tokyo Diner 

2 Newport 
Place London 
WC2H 7JP Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

page 95



19/03746/LIPDPS Baozi Inn 

25-26 Newport 
Court London 
WC2H 7JS Restaurant 

Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 | 
Sunday; 10:00 
- 23:00 | 
Monday to 
Friday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

19/04673/LIPN Not Recorded 

9 Horse And 
Dolphin Yard 
London W1D 
5AZ Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 01:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
07:00 - 01:00 

17/14544/LIPVM 
New Fook Lam 
Moon 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 
10 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PW Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 10:00 
- 01:00 

12/02836/LIPVM 
Prince Charles 
Cinema 

Ground Floor 
And Basement 
Charles House 
7 Leicester 
Place London 
WC2H 7BY Cinema 

Friday to 
Saturday; 
09:00 - 07:00 | 
Sunday to 
Thursday; 
09:00 - 03:00 

19/12586/LIPN Nusa Dua 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 
118-120 
Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EP Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 11:00 
- 23:30 

20/05206/LIPCH 

Super Star 
Chinese 
Restaurant 

17 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BE Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 01:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
10:00 - 01:00 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 02:00 

19/12738/LIPDPS 
Golden 
Phoenix 

37-38 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5QB Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 01:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 02:00 

15/07793/LIPDPS 
Little Four 
Seasons 

Basement To 
First Floor 11 
Gerrard Street 
London W1D 
5PP Restaurant 

Sunday; 11:00 
- 01:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
11:00 - 00:00 

22/00593/LIPT Baozi Inn 

8 Little Newport 
Street London 
WC2H 7JJ Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

21/10986/LIPN 
Zhang Liang 
Mala Tang 

112 
Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EJ Restaurant 

Sunday; 09:00 
- 23:00 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
09:00 - 00:00 | 

page 96



Friday to 
Saturday; 
09:00 - 00:30 

18/15580/LIPV Unit 14 

Development 
Site Bounded 
By 10 To 18 
Newport Place 
28 To 35 
Newport Court 
And 51-79 
Charing Cross 
Road London 
WC2H 0NE Not Recorded 

Monday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Tuesday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Wednesday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Thursday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Friday; 07:00 - 
00:00 | 
Saturday; 
07:00 - 00:00 | 
Sunday; 08:00 
- 22:30 | 
Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 
08:00 - 00:00 

19/00693/LIPV Unit 15 

Development 
Site Bounded 
By 10 To 18 
Newport Place 
28 To 35 
Newport Court 
And 51-79 
Charing Cross 
Road London 
WC2H 0NE Restaurant 

Sunday; 08:00 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
07:00 - 00:00 | 
Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 
08:00 - 00:00 

18/03099/LIPCH Unit 13 

Development 
Site Bounded 
By 10 To 18 
Newport Place 
28 To 35 
Newport Court 
And 51-79 
Charing Cross 
Road London 
WC2H 0NE Restaurant 

Sunday; 08:00 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 
07:00 - 23:30 | 
Friday to 
Saturday; 
07:00 - 00:00 | 
Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 
08:00 - 00:00 

21/13606/LIPDPS 
Vue Cinemas 
West End 

3 Cranbourn 
Street London 
WC2H 7AL Cinema 

Monday to 
Sunday; 00:00 
- 00:00 

19/00574/LIPCH 
Hong Kong 
Buffet 

16 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BE Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

19/05239/LIPDPS Four Seasons 

12 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PR Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 09:00 
- 03:30 

page 97



16/00203/LIPCH Shibuya Soho 

110 
Shaftesbury 
Avenue London 
W1D 5EJ Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 10:00 
- 23:00 

20/05125/LIPCH Tao Tao Ju 

15 Lisle Street 
London WC2H 
7BE Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 
- 00:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
10:00 - 00:30 

18/04929/LIPN Kaya 

10 Little 
Newport Street 
London WC2H 
7JJ Not Recorded 

Monday to 
Sunday; 10:00 
- 23:30 

18/08208/LIPN Far East 

Ground Floor 
13 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PS Not Recorded 

Monday to 
Sunday; 09:00 
- 05:00 

06/08810/WCCMAP 
Far East 
Restaurant 

Ground Floor 
13 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PS Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 23:00 
- 05:00 

19/16307/LIPDPS 
Experimental 
Cocktail Club 

First Floor And 
Second Floor 
13 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PS 

Night clubs and 
discos 

Sunday; 09:00 
- 02:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
09:00 - 03:30 | 
Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 
09:00 - 02:30 

16/06913/LIPCH 
Leicester 
Square Theatre 

6 Leicester 
Place London 
WC2H 7BX Theatre 

Sunday; 09:00 
- 23:00 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
09:00 - 02:30 

19/08394/LIPDPS Tiangfu 

14 Gerrard 
Street London 
W1D 5PT Shop 

Sunday; 11:00 
- 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Saturday; 
11:00 - 23:00 

 

page 98



         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   

   

Date:  31 March 2022 

   

Licensing Ref No:  21/14599/LIPN - New Premises Licence 

   

Title of Report:  145-147 Edgware Road 
London 
W2 2HR 

   

Report of:  Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

Wards involved:  Hyde Park 

   

Policy context:  City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy  

   

Financial summary:  None 

   

Report Author:  Roxsana Haq 
Senior Licensing Officer 

   

Contact details  Telephone: 020 7641 6500 
Email: rhaq@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Report 

page 99

Agenda Item 2.



 

1. Application 
 

1-A Applicant and premises 
 

Application Type: New Premises Licence, Licensing Act 2003 
 

Application received date: 21 December 2021 

Applicant: Fancy Delivery UK Limited 

Premises: Trading name has not been provided from the applicant. 

Premises address: 145-147 Edgware Road 
London 
W2 2HR 
 

Ward: 
 

Hyde Park 

Cumulative 
Impact Area: 

None 

 Special 
Consideration 
Zone: 

Edgware Road  

Premises description: 
 

According to the application this premises intends to operate as 
a grocery delivery company. The style of operation that the 
applicant intends is both online and instore. 

Premises licence history: 
 

This application is for a new premises, and therefore no 
premises licence history exists. 

Applicant submissions: The applicant has stated that they propose to operate as an 
instore and online grocery service that requires the Sale by 
Retail of Alcohol Monday to Sunday 08:00 to 00:00. 
Additional conditions have also been proposed which can be 
seen at Appendix 4. 

Applicant amendments: None 

 

1-B Proposed licensable activities and hours 
 

Sale by retail of alcohol On or off sales or both: 
 

Both 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 08:00 08:00 08:00 08:00 08:00 08:00 08:00 

End: 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

None 

 

Hours premises are open to the public 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

End: 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

None 

Adult Entertainment:   
None 

 
 
 
 
 
 

page 100



2. Representations 
 

2-A Responsible Authorities 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Environmental Health Consultation Team 

Representative:  Maxwell Koduah 

Received:  
 

06 January 2022 (withdrawn 07 February 2022) 

  
145-147 Edgware Road, London, W2 2HR 
 
I refer to the application for a new Premises Licence number for the above-mentioned premises. I 
have considered the information that you have provided within and accompanying this application.  I 
have also considered the application in line with the relevant policies within the Councils Statement of 
Licensing Policy dated October 2021.   
 
The applicant is seeking to supply alcohol for consumption off the premises Monday to Sunday 08:00 
– 00:00 hours    

 
Following consideration of the application and how it may affect the Licensing Objectives and 
meeting the requirements of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy I wish to make the following 
representations: 
 
The supply alcohol and the hours requested to supply alcohol may have the likely effect of causing 
an increase in Public Nuisance and may affect Public Safety within the area 

 
As presented, the application would have the likely effect of causing an increase in Public Nuisance 
and may affect Public Safety within the area 
 
Conditions, in addition to those contained within the operating schedule, have been proposed to 
support the licensing objectives of Prevention of Public Nuisance and Public Safety below. Applicant 
is advised to study these conditions and discuss same if they are minded. 
 
Proposed Environmental Health Conditions  
 

1. All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed containers only, 
and shall not be consumed on the premises 
 

2. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall 
emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 
premises which gives rise to a nuisance 
 

3. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will be instructed not to 
loiter in the vicinity of residential premises  

 
4. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to 

congregate in the immediate vicinity of the premises  
 

5. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to 
smoke in the immediate vicinity of the premises 

 
6. Deliveries shall only be made to a bonafide residential or business addresses 

 
7. Delivery drivers/riders shall wait inside the premises between deliveries/ for deliveries  

 
8. Delivery drivers/riders shall be given clear written instructions to use their vehicles in a 

page 101



responsible manner so as not to cause a nuisance to any residents or generally outside 
of the licenced premises    

 
9. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 

minutes before the scheduled collection times 

10. During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient 
measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from 
customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be 
swept and or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with 
the approved refuse storage arrangements by close from the Licence by the licensing 
authority 

 
Please contact me if you wish to discuss these further.  
 
Following agreement of conditions, the Environmental Health Service withdrew their 
representation on 07 February 2022. The agreed conditions can be found at Appendix 4. 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Metropolitan Police Service 

Representative: PC Reaz Guerra 
 

Received: 
 

14 January 2022 

Dear Andrew  
 
145-147 Edgware Road, London, W2 2HR (21/14599/LIPN) 
  
With reference to the above application, I am writing to inform you that the Metropolitan Police, 
as a Responsible Authority, are objecting to this application as it is our belief that if granted the 
application would undermine the Licensing Objectives.  
 
There is insufficient detail contained within the operating schedule to promote the licensing 
objectives.  
 
It is for these reasons that we object to this application.  
 

 

2-B Other Persons 
 

Name:  

Address and/or Residents Association:  
 

 
 

Status: Valid In support or opposed: Opposed 

Received:  
 

01 January 2022 

 
Not appropriate to have a food delivery as part of a residential block as we will feel the effects of 
this. Noise, safety, hygiene concerns which we already experience with other businesses of this 
type already in the building, therefore having another one of these will only add to the current 
problems. 
 

 
 

page 102



 

3. Policy & Guidance 
 

The following policies within the City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy apply: 
 

Special 
Consideration 
Zones Policy 
SCZ1 applies 

Edgware Road Special Consideration Zone 
 
D51. Edgware Road area is 0.10km² in size, accounting for 0.4% of the 
borough’s footprint. The local issues that need to be considered by 
applicants are: 
 

• Serious violent crimes at night. 
• Incidents relating to ambulance call outs at night to the locations of 

licensed premises for intoxication, injury related to intoxication 
and/or assault. 

• Drug dealing at night. 
• Robberies at night. 
• Theft incidents at night. 
• Noise nuisance at night. 

 
D52. The incidents recorded between 2017 and 2019 were nearly four 
times the borough’s average rate of incidents per square kilometre. 
 

Hours Policy 
HRS1 applies 

A. Applications within the core hours set out below in this policy will 
generally be granted for the relevant premises uses, subject to not being 
contrary to other policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
B. Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in Clause 
C will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant 
policies, and with particular regard to the following: 
1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements 
of policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 associated with the 
likelihood of the effect of the grant of a licence for later or 
earlier hours on crime and disorder, public safety, public 
nuisance and the protection of children from harm. 
2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone 
they have demonstrated that they have taken account of the 
issues identified in that area and provided adequate mitigation. 
3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of 
the premises that would likely be adversely affected by premises 
being open or carrying out operations at the hours proposed. 
4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when 
customers will be permitted to remain on the premises. 
5. The proposed hours when any music, including 
incidental music, will be played. 
6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take 
food or drink outside the premises or be within 
open areas which form part of the premises. 
7. The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation of the 
premises (if any) and hours of licensable premises in the vicinity. 
8. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public transport 
when arriving at and leaving the premises, especially at night. 
9. The capacity of the premises. 
10. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to impact 
the licensing objectives than others; for example, pubs 
and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and other cultural 
and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation. 
 

page 103



11. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active measures 
proposed for a ‘winding down’ period including arrangements for people to 
be collected from the premises to travel home safely. 
12. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply of 
alcohol for consumption on the premises ceases a suitable period of time 
before customers are required to leave the premises. 
13. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours if, 
after review, it is necessary to impose conditions specifying shorter hours in 
order to promote the licensing objectives. 
14. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and 
justified as part of the application to allow responsible authorities and 
interested parties to evaluate the impact that these licensable activities may 
have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of applications for later 
hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into account that later hours are 
generally granted for preceding Sundays and that the next day is a working 
day. Non-specific days are expected to be covered by Temporary Event 
Notices or variation applications. 
 
C. For the purpose of Clauses A and B above, the Core Hours for 
applications for each premises use type as defined within this policy are: 
 
1. Casinos: Up to 24 hours a day whilst casino gaming is permitted by a 
premises licence under the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
2. Cinemas, Cultural Venues and Live Sporting Premises: Monday to 
Sunday: 9am to 12am 
 
3. Hotels: Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. Friday and Saturday: 
9am to 12am. Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately prior to a 
bank holiday: 9am to 12am. For the sale of alcohol to guests for 
consumption in hotel/guest rooms only: Anytime up to 24 hours.  
 
4. Off licences: Monday to Saturday: 8am to 11pm. Sunday: 9am to 
10.30pm.  
 
5. Outdoor Spaces: Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. Friday and 
Saturday: 9am to 12am. Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately 
prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am.  
 
6. Pubs and bars, Fast Food and Music and Dance venues: Monday to 
Thursday: 10am to 11.30pm. Friday and Saturday: 10am to 12am. Sunday: 
9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 12pm to 
12am.  
 
7. Qualifying Clubs: Monday to Thursday: 9am to 12am.. Friday and 
Saturday: 9am to 12am. Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately 
prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am.  
 
8. Restaurants: Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. Friday and 
Saturday: 9am to 12am. Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately 
prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am.  
 
9. Sexual Entertainment Venues and Sex Cinemas: Monday to 
Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. Friday and Saturday: 9am to 12am. Sunday: 
9am to 10.30pm. Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 
12am.  
 

page 104



D. Core hours are when customers are permitted to be on the premises and 
therefore the maximum opening hours permitted will be to the same start 
and terminal hours for each of the days where licensable activity is 
permitted.  

E. For the purposes of this policy, ‘premises uses’ are defined within the 
relevant premises use policies within this statement. 

Delivery Centre 
Policy DC1 
applies 

A. Applications for a delivery centre outside the West End Cumulative 
Impact Zone will generally be granted subject to:  
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and 
CH1, 
2. The hours for licensable activities are within the council’s Core Hours 
Policy HRS1, 
3. The applicant having taken account of the Special Consideration Zone 
Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated zone, 
4. The premises are not located in a predominantly residential area, and 
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting the definition of a 
delivery centre in Clause D. 
 
B. Applications for a delivery centre within the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone will be considered on their own merits and subject to: 
1. The application meeting the requirements of policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and 
CH1, 
2. The hours for licensable activities are within the council’s Core Hours 
Policy HRS1, 
3. The applicant having demonstrated that they will not add to cumulative 
impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone,  
4. The premises are not located within a 
predominantly residential area, and  
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting the definition of a 
delivery centre in Clause D. 
 
C. Applications that do not meet Clause A or B will be considered on their 
own merits, subject to other relevant policies within this statement and the 
following considerations: 
1. The likelihood of the effect of the grant of the licence for a delivery centre 
on the licensing objectives and whether the applicant has demonstrated 
that they will meet the criteria and considerations within policies CD1, PS1, 
PN1 and CH1. 
2. The proposed hours for the operation of the delivery centre, whether they 
are beyond the Core Hours as set out in Policy HRS1 and if so, what are 
the reasons for the additional hours and what has the applicant proposed 
as measures that will mitigate or eliminate any potential impact on the 
licensing objectives and residents in the vicinity of the premises. 
3. If the application is located within: 
a. the West End Cumulative Impact Zone, have they demonstrated that 
they will not add to cumulative impact, or,  
b. a designated Special Consideration Zone, have they demonstrated that 
they have taken account of the issues identified in that area and put forward 
proposed mitigation measures in relation to those issues in accordance with 
Policy SCZ1, 
4. Whether the premises are located within a predominantly residential area 
and if so: 
a. whether the applicant has engaged with local residents and/or local 
resident/amenity societies on the proposed application and the operation of 
the premises prior to submitting the application to the council, and 
b. whether the applicant has put forward sufficient control measures within 

page 105



the operating schedule to mitigate or eliminate the potential impact on 
residents in the area and the licensing objectives that have been identified 
as part of the pre-application engagement with residents or following receipt 
of relevant representations following the statutory consultation period. 
 
5. Whether the delivery personnel working from the delivery centre are 
directly employed by the applicant or whether the delivery service element 
of the operation will be provided by a third party. 
 
6. How will the applicant ensure that the operation of the premises and the 
delivery service, operated directly by them with their own staff does not 
adversely impact the licensing objectives, breach the terms and conditions 
of the licence or commit offences under the Act. 
 
7. If a third party will provide the delivery service element of the operation 
on behalf of the applicant what are the contractual arrangements with that 
third party to ensure that the operation of the delivery service from the 
delivery centre does not adversely impact the licensing objectives, breach 
the terms and conditions of the licence or commit offences under the Act. 
 
8. The operation and management of the proposed delivery centre from the 
premises. 
 
9. The types of vehicles that will be used for the delivery of alcohol and/or 
late-night refreshment and whether they will likely create public nuisance. 
 
10. When will deliveries to the delivery centre or waste collection take 
place. 
 
11. The history of the applicant’s operation of licensed premises and the 
premise’s operation in relation to any impact on the licensing objectives, 
breaches of any terms and conditions of a licence, any reviews of a licence 
or offences committed under the Act. 
 
12. In addition to Sub-clause 6 and 7 above what measures the applicant or 
the third party providing the delivery service has put forward to mitigate the 
specific risk of public nuisance by the operation of the delivery service at 
the premises or at the end point of delivery. 
 
13. In addition to sub-clause 6 and 7 above what specific measures and 
processes the applicant or the third party providing the delivery service has 
put forward to mitigate the risk from the delivery of alcohol to children to 
ensure that they are protected from harm. 
 
D. For the purposes of this policy a delivery centre is a premises that’s 
primary function is to temporarily store alcohol and/or to prepare hot food 
and hot drink, so that it is available when ordered for transportation to a 
customer’s residential or workplace location. 
 
E. For the purposes of Clause A.4 B.4 and C reference to ‘a predominately 
residential area’ means an area of the city in which housing is the 
predominant use. 

 

page 106



4.         Equality Implications 
 

The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to  
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In  
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of  
its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  

Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
5. Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Premises plans 

Appendix 2 
 

Applicant supporting documents  

Appendix 3 
 

Premises history 
 

Appendix 4 
 

Proposed conditions 

Appendix 5 Residential map and list of premises in the vicinity 
 

 

Report author: Roxsana Haq 
Licensing Officer 
 

Contact: Telephone: 020 7641 6500 
Email: rhaq@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 

If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect one of the background 
papers please contact the report author. 
 

Background Documents – Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 
 

1 Licensing Act 2003 N/A 
 

2 City of Westminster Statement of Licensing  
Policy  

01 October 2021 

3 Amended Guidance issued under section 182 of  
the Licensing Act 2003  

April 2018 

4 Environmental Health Consultation  
(withdrawn 07 February 2022) 

06 January 2022 

5 Metropolitan Police Service 
 

14 February 2022 

6 Interested Party 1 
 

01 January 2022 

 
 

page 107

mailto:rhaq@westminster.gov.uk


 

Premises Plans                 Appendix 1 
 

 

page 108



Applicant Supporting Documents  Appendix 2 

The applicant has provided the following presentation.

page 109



1 

IN THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

APPLICATION FOR A NEW GROCERY STORE AND DELIVERY SERVICE PREMISES LICENCE 

Gopuff, 145-147 Edgware Road, London W2 2HR 

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING BUNDLE 

INDEX 

Summary of Application Page: GB-001 

Proposed Conditions Page: GB-007 

Operational Overview Page: GB-010 

Age Restricted Products Training 
With associated Refusal Policy 

Page: GB-013 

Safety Training Page: GB-020 

Staff Awareness Poster Page: GB-024 

Map of Delivery Areas Page: GB-25 

Letter to Mrs Sonia Kobeissi Page: GB-26 

Extracts from Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Page: GB-027 

GB-001
page 110



1 

IN THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

APPLICATION FOR A NEW GROCERY STORE AND DELIVERY SERVICE PREMISES LICENCE 

Gopuff, 145-147 Edgware Road, London W2 2HR 

SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 

The application 

1. The Applicant, Fancy Delivery UK Limited t/a Gopuff, is an experienced global operator of licensed 

grocery stores and delivery services.  In central London, the Applicant currently operates 19

licensed premises, with a further 17 licensed premises nationally.  Attached to this summary, is

an Operational Overview of the application site, that provides an insight into the proposed

operation of the Premises.

2. The application site is a former café and tea rooms, catering to walk in customers.  It is located

within a rank of commercial units in a high-street setting (site outlined in yellow below):

GB-002
page 111



2 

Image of site circa December 2021: 

Image of site circa February 2022: 

GB-003
page 112



3 
 

3. The site is overlooked by a number of residential apartments that share this mixed-use road, as 

can be seen in the following image: 

 

Proposed Hours 

4. The Application is for the “Off Sale” of alcohol only, between the hours of 8am and midnight daily.  

The Premises itself will ultimately operate 24 hours a day for customer deliveries; however, it 

currently operates from 8am to 2am daily with 24-hour operating coming into effect in the next 

12 weeks.  Customers can access the store for the purposes of shopping on-site, by way of the 

ordering terminals provided, between the hours of 8am and 10pm (the Premises operates 

reduced hours for public access on Sundays, dependant on demand).  

Delivery Area 

5. The Applicant currently has 4 sites operating in surrounding areas N7, SW8, W3, and SE1. Please 

see the attached map showing the delivery area for these sites, along with the delivery area for 

the Application site. All of these sites are currently trading between 8am-2am and most of them 

hold 24-hour licences. 

GB-004
page 113



4 
 

Engagement 

6. A Representation was received from the Environmental Health Officer.  This was withdrawn 

following discussions with the Applicant and the agreement of appropriate conditions that would 

enshrine the Applicant’s best practice on the Premises Licence.  Please see the attached 

Consolidated Proposed Draft Conditions document. 

7. A Representation was received from the Police and after engagement with the Applicant, 

conditions requested by the Police were agreed and further conditions were proposed by the 

Applicant.  Please see the attached Consolidated Proposed Draft Conditions document. 

8. The Applicant has considered the Representation made by a local resident and has identified the 

concerns raised.  In response to these concerns, and in line with the best practices employed by 

the Applicant, the Applicant proposes the following additional condition: 

“Only electric or pedal powered vehicles shall be used by delivery drivers/riders delivering 

products sold from the Premises, to customers.” 

9. Further, the Applicant puts forward for the Committee Members’ consideration, the attached 

Safety Training and Age Restricted Products Training documents, along with the example staff 

awareness poster that will be displayed prominently around the Premises.  These policies and 

posters are supported by the contracts in place between the Applicant and their team of drivers, 

which state: 

“You must comply at all times with the Company's rules, policies and procedures in respect of 

health and safety, food safety, data protection, and harassment, and any other policies which 

the Company may notify you are relevant to your engagement, copies of which are available 

on request.” 

GB-005
page 114



5 
 

10. The applicant will consider any other reasonable conditions as they adopt a partnership approach 

to all stakeholders interested in their operation. 

Conclusion 

11. The Applicant has engaged constructively with officers during this application process and intends 

to do so in the long-term should this licence application be granted.  Also, the Applicant has taken 

consideration of the concerns raised by the local resident mentioned above.  In order to address 

the concerns raised by parties during the Consultation Period, the Applicant has proposed and 

agreed robust Conditions; breach of which can result in an unlimited fine or up to 6 months in 

prison, or both.  

12. If any issues do arise, they will be ironed out quickly by this responsible, experienced operator. 

This approach serves the best interests of all involved and, in the applicant’s view, it is simply the 

neighbourly thing to do.  

13. The licensing sub-committee is respectfully invited to grant the Application to the extent set out 

in the Application papers, together with the suite of amended Proposed Draft Conditions - all of 

which are designed to promote the licensing objectives in an appropriate and proportionate 

manner. 

 

MARCUS LAVELL 

Consultant Barrister 

Keystone Law 

 

22 March 2022 

GB-006
page 115



CONSOLIDATED PROPOSED 
DRAFT CONDITIONS 

1. All staff will be fully trained in their responsibilities and with regard to the promotion of the
licensing objective in particular sale of alcohol, and will be retrained every six months, with
recorded training records kept for inspection.

2. A CCTV system is in operation for the warehouse, to provide security and identify any culprit
who is intent in causing trouble. All images are stored for a period of 31 days after which they
can be erased or saved at the request of the police. All current security measures will remain
in operation. All staff will be fully trained in the operation of the CCTV to ensure it is operational
all the hours of trade. Images will be made available to the police or authorised licensing
officer from the council on request.

3. All potential customers must verify on the payment page of the website that they are at least
18 years of age. If the applicant is in any doubt as to the age     of the customer, they will only
deliver the alcohol if the owner of the card that made the payment is present at the delivery
address; Orders will only be dispatched to bona fide addresses,

• No deliveries will be made to an open space,
• All sales of alcohol for delivery must be paid for by credit card, debit card (pre- paid or

otherwise) or electronic payment,
• Details of the order (including the type, amount of alcohol, name and address of the

customer and delivery address if different) must be included with the order. The detail shall
be shown on the printout dispatched with the order electronic receipt provided to the
customer, [proposed amended wording to reflect updated “app” ordering system]

• All delivery drivers and riders must allow any police or authorised local authority officers to
inspect any alcohol,

• Deliveries only made to those over the age of 18.

4. A challenge 25 age verification scheme will be used. ID will be required for deliveries to
customers who do not look 25 years old. They will be required to prove by way of photographic
ID, either a passport or driving licence that they are at least 18. The card used for purchase
will also be checked against the ID provided. If the business is in any doubt then the delivery
of alcohol will not be made, and a full refund will be issued. Postal/carriage deliveries will only
be made once a verified payment method has been established, and the customer has
confirmed they are 18 or over when making the purchase.

Additional Conditions Agreed with EHO 

5. All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed containers only, and
shall not be consumed on the premises.

6. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall emanate
from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the premises which
gives rise to a nuisance.

7. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will be instructed not to loiter in
the vicinity of residential premises.

8. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to

GB-007
page 116



congregate in the immediate vicinity of the premises. 
 

9. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to smoke in 
the immediate vicinity of the premises. 
 

10. Deliveries shall only be made to a bonafide residential or business addresses. 
 

11. Delivery drivers/riders shall wait inside the premises between deliveries/ for deliveries. 
 

12. Delivery drivers/riders shall be given clear written instructions to use their vehicles in a 
responsible manner so as not to cause a nuisance to any residents or generally outside of the 
licenced premises. 
 

13. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 minutes 
before the scheduled collection times. 
 

14. During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient 
measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from 
customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be swept and 
or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with the approved 
refuse storage arrangements by close from the Licence by the licensing authority. 

 
Additional Conditions Agreed with Police 

 
 
15. MC48 - A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The record should include 

the date and time of the refused sale and the name of the member of staff who refused the 
sale. The record shall be available for inspection at the premises by the police or an 
authorised officer of the City Council at all times whilst the premises is open. 
 

16. MC29 - No super-strength beer, lagers, ciders or spirit mixtures of 5.5% ABV (alcohol by 
volume) or above shall be sold at the premises, except for premium beers and ciders supplied 
in glass bottles. 

 
17. MC01 - The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the 

minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points 
will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition. 
The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable activities 
and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored 
for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be 
made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the 
entire 31 day period. 
 

18. MC02 - A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV 
system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff member 
must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images 
or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested. 

 
Additional Conditions Proposed Following Discussions with Police 
 
19. There shall be a dedicated waiting are within the premises for delivery drivers waiting to collect 

customer orders for delivery.  Delivery drivers are not to congregate outside of the premises.  
Between the hours of 9pm and 8am, drivers smoking outside of the premises shall be limited 
to 5 at any one time. No longer applicable, please see condition 9 above. 

 

GB-008
page 117



20. All vehicles shall be stored inside the premises between deliveries and walked out to the road. 
Drivers are to be regularly reminded they are not to cycle on the pavement at all. 

 
 
Additional Condition Proposed Following Consideration of Resident’s Representation 
 
 
21. Only electric or pedal powered vehicles shall be used by delivery drivers/riders delivering 

products sold from the Premises, to customers. 
 
 

GB-009
page 118



Gopuff’s Operational Overview of 145-147 Edgware Road, W2 2HR

This document provides an overview of who we are, how we plan to operate our site at 145-147 Edgware
Road, W2 2HR (the “Site”) and how we manage our fulfilment and delivery operations to ensure we meet
our responsibility to local residents to minimise noise and disruption and to also safely deliver age verified
products in full accordance with our legal and regulatory obligations.

If you have any questions regarding issues not covered by this document please don’t hesitate to reach out
to us at the following e-mail address: stef.webb@gopuff.com

Who are we?

We’re a full service on demand grocery company that delivers all of your daily needs, including fruit and 
vegetables, frozen foods, cleaning and home products, over-the-counter medications, baby and pet 
products, snacks and drinks, as well as alcohol. We store about 4,000 products at each of our sites and we 
fulfill all deliveries made on our app directly from our own sites using our own drivers. Our customers range 
in age from younger people in their 20s to the elderly, with new parents and customers over 35 comprising 
our fastest growing customer groups! During the COVID-19 pandemic, customers valued Gopuff’s 
contact-free delivery, and the ability to purchase a COVID test kit, soup and tissues all in the same order. 
From day-to-day to sick days, Gopuff is there for our customers in an instant.

We were founded in 2013 and are now serving customers in more than 1,000 cities in the United States, 
United Kingdom, France and Spain. We currently have 36 sites across the United Kingdom in London, 
Birmingham, Bristol, Cambridge, Cardiff, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham and 
Sheffield.

What will be the opening hours at the Site?

We’re already trading from this site between 0800-0200 and plan to eventually fulfill customer orders 
made online via the Gopuff app from the Site 24 hours a day. We currently serve walk-in customers 
attending the site to order and collect items between 0800-2200, with reduced trading hours on Sundays.

How do customers purchase products from the Site?

Walk-in customers order products from the Site’s inventory from our tablets in the store and our team of
associates will then pick and pack the customer’s order. Customers can also order products for delivery to
their home or office from the Site via the Gopuff app.

How do we deliver orders to customers?

We deliver orders from our sites using our own professional, trained drivers. We do not use companies
such as Uber Eats, Just Eat or Deliveroo to deliver orders to customers.

All our deliveries from this Site will be made by our drivers operating bicycles, eBikes or electric mopeds
which we provide to our drivers. Our fully electric mopeds are energy efficient and generate little to no
noise and are regularly maintained by us.

GB-010
page 119

https://gopuff.com/grocery


We have a dedicated indoor area at the Site for our drivers with toilet facilities and other amenities. So,
unlike most grocery and takeaway delivery operators, our drivers won’t be loitering outside or in close
vicinity to the Site while they await orders and therefore will not generate noise and nuisance for local
residents and businesses.

We are committed to operating responsibly in the communities in which we serve. Ensuring we are a good
neighbour and minimising disruption to our community is one of our key priorities. Our neighbours are our
customers and we provide training to our drivers on acceptable behaviour and what to avoid in or around
our sites to minimise noise and disruption to the local area, including not loitering outside the Site or
nearby residential properties. We also have signage affixed at the Site to remind our drivers to be
courteous when entering and exiting the Site and the wider complex. Our on-site team also provide regular
reminders about this to our drivers.

Do we sell alcohol?

Yes, albeit alcohol products form only a small proportion of the overall number of products stored at our
sites. We plan, subject to approval, to fulfill alcohol orders from the Site between the hours of 08:00 -
00:00.

How do we meet age restricted legal requirements?

The safety and wellbeing of our customers is of utmost importance to Gopuff. We take our responsibility to
ensure age restricted products such as alcohol are not delivered to people under the minimum legal age
very seriously.

It’s Gopuff policy to check the customer’s ID for all orders containing age restricted products, even if the
customer looks older than the legal age for buying those items.

For customers purchasing age restricted products at our retail sites, our store associates will ask the
customer to present valid ID before they are provided with their order. For customers purchasing age
restricted products for delivery via our app, customers are notified in the app before placing an order of the
requirement to present valid ID upon delivery of the order, and are sent further reminders ahead of
delivery. The receipt attached to package flags to our drivers that an order contains an age restricted
product and our delivery app that our riders use also notifies them and prompts them to check the
customer’s ID.

We only accept the following types of IDs from customers: Passport; European Union photocard driving
license; Photographic identity card bearing the national Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS) hologram;
and National identity card issued by a European Union member state (other than the United Kingdom),
Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein or Switzerland.

What is our refusal process where we cannot verify the age of a customer purchasing an age restricted
product?

We have a specific refusals policy in place which all our store associates and drivers must follow.

Our store associates and drivers will refuse to provide or deliver an order if:

- Valid ID is unable to be provided.
- The customer is underage (alcohol & tobacco products: <18 years).
- For sales of alcohol products, the customer appears to be drunk or under the influence.

When a sale/delivery is refused on the above grounds, we do not deliver or provide the entire order to the
customer and the customer will be refunded in full. Our store associates record the refusal in the store’s

GB-011
page 120



alcohol refusals logbook and our drivers record the refusal in our driver app at the point of delivery. We
retain a consolidated record of all refusals by our drivers centrally.

We provide dedicated training to all our store associates and riders on our age restricted product policy
during their onboarding. This training is repeated quarterly. We also have signage affixed at our sites to
remind store associates and drivers to undertake ID checks and our on-site management team also provide
regular reminders.

GB-012
page 121



Age Restricted Products: EduMe Training

GB-013
page 122



Age Restricted Products: EduMe Training

Learner then goes on to ‘take the quiz’ & is asked 2 questions at this point:

GB-014
page 123



Age Restricted Products: EduMe Training

Checking ID
● When a customer comes to the door, ask them to show the front of their ID but

DO NOT take the ID from them
● Check the front of the ID at a safe distance
● Check the date of birth indicates the person is 18 or over
● Check the photo is a true likeness of the customer & hologram is present and

genuine
● If there are any doubts, or there is reason to suspect the document is forged or

borrowed, the sale or service of age restricted products must be refused.

Denying Handover
● ID is invalid or fake
● ID is expired
● Customer is underage
● Customer is intoxicated

GB-015
page 124



Age Restricted Products: EduMe Training

Delivery Partner Liability
Delivery partners can be personally liable if they do not verify the customer's age at
the point of handover.
The **maximum** fine for handing over age restricted products to someone
underage is £5000.
The delivery partner, store manager and company could be liable for a fine in these
circumstances.

GB-016
page 125



Age Restricted Products: EduMe Training

There is then a final quiz to cover more of the material:

*Who can be held liable for selling of age restricted products.

GB-017
page 126



Age Restricted Products - Refusals Policy (UK)

The safety and wellbeing of our customers is of utmost importance to Gopuff. We take our
responsibility to ensure age restricted products such as alcohol are not delivered to minors very
seriously.

It’s Gopuff policy to check the customer’s ID for all orders containing age restricted products,
even if the customer looks older than the legal age for buying those items. See list of the valid
ID we accept at Appendix 1.

For customers purchasing age restricted products at our retail sites, our store associates will ask
the customer to present valid ID before they are provided with their order.

For customers ordering via our app for delivery, the customer will be notified in the app when
ordering of the requirement to present valid ID and are also sent further reminders by text
message ahead of delivery. The receipt attached to package flags to our drivers that an order
contains an age restricted product and our delivery app that our riders use also notifies them
and prompts them to check the customer’s ID.

Our store associates and drivers will refuse to provide or deliver an order if:

- Valid ID is unable to be provided.
- The customer is underage (alcohol & tobacco products: <18 years).
- For sales of alcohol products, the customer appears to be drunk or under the influence.

When a sale/delivery is refused on the above grounds, we do not deliver or provide the entire
order to the customer and the customer will be refunded in full. Our store associates record the
refusal in the store’s alcohol refusals logbook and our drivers record the refusal in our driver app
at the point of delivery. We retain a consolidated record of all refusals by our drivers centrally.

We provide dedicated training to all our store associates and riders on our refusals policy during
their onboarding. This training is repeated quarterly. We also have signage affixed at our sites to
remind store associates and drivers to undertake ID checks and our on-site management team
also provide regular reminders.

Should licensing authorities or law enforcement require information from our refusal logs they
can request this at the premises and the site manager / shift lead will contact
uklicensing@gopuff.com with the details of the request and the relevant data will be promptly
sent back to them.

Alternatively, licensing authorities and law enforcement can reach out to us directly for such
information at uklicensing@gopuff.com.

GB-018
page 127

mailto:uklicensing@gopuff.com
mailto:uklicensing@gopuff.com


Appendix 1 - Acceptable Valid ID

● Passport
● European Union photocard driving license
● Photographic identity card bearing the national Proof of Age Standards Scheme

(PASS) hologram
● National identity card issued by a European Union member state (other than the

United Kingdom), Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein or Switzerland.

GB-019
page 128



Safety : EduMe Training

Practice Safe Driving Techniques
Monitor blind spots, travel at safe speeds and reduce speed in work zones, keep up
with regular vehicle maintenance, adjust driving techniques in bad weather, load
cargo safely, and reduce speeds on curves to prevent your vehicle and cargo from
tipping over.

Be aware of your Surroundings
● Familiarise yourself with your delivery zone and routes e.g. what streets or

shortcuts might be better avoided.
● Park near to the delivery address to avoid walking alone in areas.
● Take note of any vehicles that may be following you.
● Only deliver to valid addresses e.g. we cannot deliver to parks or street side.

Physical Exertion
● Be sure not to carry loads that are too heavy on your back (bike)
● When using a cargo trailer be aware that the back of your bike may be heavier

(bike/moped)_
● Be careful when handing over heavier bags to customers or moving the cargo

trailer

GB-020
page 129



Safety : EduMe Training

Dress Appropriately
● Using lights, fluorescent strips and bright clothing will make you stand out

more on the roads
● Wear a helmet - this will help prevent serious injury (bike/moped)
● Dress for the weather _e.g. waterproofs for rain/snow and lighter clothes and

suncream for sun. It is as important to protect yourself from sunburn and
cold/flu as it is from falls. (bike/moped)

They are then asked a short quiz:

Answers: A, ALL , A

GB-021
page 130



Safety : EduMe Training

Preventing Incidents
● You can prevent incidents by being aware of other drivers/ cyclists on the

road.
● Check your bike/moped before use _e.g. check tyre pressure, handlebar

alignment, gear changes, lights_
● Check over your car before use and ensure ample petrol levels
● Do refresher safety training every 3 months

Reporting Accidents
**We try to keep you as safe as possible while at work but accidents can happen!**

● If an accident happens on the road, pull over to the side of the road & contact
your MFC **when it is safe to do so**.

● Note the vehicles, registration numbers and any passengers, as well as the
incident scene.

● Never admit liability at the scene.

Insurance
● Please share the name of our insurance company and policy number with

anyone who asks at the scene of the accident. (The Store Manager of the MFC
can provide this)._(bike and moped only)_

● **Zego** is the name of the company that provides our insurance _(bike and
moped only)_

● Drivers must have an H&R insurance policy that runs alongside their SD&P
policy _(independent contracted drivers only)_

Our Neighbours are our Customers
**Please avoid:**

● shouting/ loud conversations outside the MFC - particularly early morning and
late at night.

● using horns
● leaving engines running outside
● loud music when coming and going from the MFC
● loitering outside the MFC or nearby residential properties

GB-022
page 131



Safety : EduMe Training

While you’re Waiting
● If your MFC has a driver waiting room you must wait in there rather than

outside the premises or in your vehicle.
● Please park your vehicle responsibly as to not upset any nearby

residents. _e.g. do not park over double spaces, mopeds parked on
pavements or bikes overflowing into pedestrian areas_

Quiz:

Answers: All, A, A

GB-023
page 132



WE’RE  
SUPER-FAST,
NOT NOISY. 
Please be respectful of  
our neighbours. Leave and 
enter the site quietly. 

Thank you.
GB-024

page 133



GB-025

page 134



Mrs. Sonia Kobeissi
102, The Watergardens
Burwood, London

Dear Mrs. Kobeissi,

On behalf of Gopuff, I am reaching out to suggest a virtual or in-person meeting to
discuss our Edgware site set to launch in the next month. I am happy to meet with you
at a location and time convenient to you.

It is important to Gopuff, our team here in the United Kingdom, and our staff at this site
that we operate as good partners to our neighbors and the community.

I am available at your convenience, and please do not hesitate to contact me directly.
In addition, you can visit www.gopuff.com/blog to read more about our work in the
communities where we operate.

All the best,

Stefanie Webb

Gopuff UK | Head of Corporate Affairs
stef.webb@gopuff.com
+44 7508 556273

Gopuff 48 Hoxton Square, London N1 6PB, UK | Gopuff.com GB-026
page 135

http://www.gopuff.com/blog
mailto:stef.webb@gopuff.com


 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

Core Hours Policy HRS1

A. Applications within the core hours set out below in this policy will
generally be granted for the relevant premises uses, subject to not
being contrary to other policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy.

B. Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in Clause
C will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant
policies, and with particular regard to the following:

1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements
of policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 associated with the
likelihood of the effect of the grant of a licence for later or
earlier hours on crime and disorder, public safety, public
nuisance and the protection of children from harm.

2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone
they have demonstrated that they have taken account of the
issues identified in that area and provided adequate mitigation.

3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of
the premises that would likely be adversely affected by premises
being open or carrying out operations at the hours proposed.

4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when
customers will be permitted to remain on the premises.

5. The proposed hours when any music, including
incidental music, will be played.

6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take
food or drink outside the premises or be within
open areas which form part of the premises.

7. The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation of
the premises (if any) and hours of licensable premises in the vicinity.

8. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public transport
when arriving at and leaving the premises, especially at night.

9. The capacity of the premises.

10. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to
impact the licensing objectives than others; for example, pubs
and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and other cultural
and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation.

11. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active measures
proposed for a ‘winding down’ period including arrangements for
people to be collected from the premises to travel home safely.

12. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply of
alcohol for consumption on the premises ceases a suitable period
of time before customers are required to leave the premises.

13. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours
if, after review, it is necessary to impose conditions specifying
shorter hours in order to promote the licensing objectives.

14. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and
justified as part of the application to allow responsible authorities and
interested parties to evaluate the impact that these licensable activities
may have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of applications
for later hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into account that
later hours are generally granted for preceding Sundays and that
the next day is a working day. Non-specific days are expected to
be covered by Temporary Event Notices or variation applications.

Core Hours Policy

62 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-027

page 136



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

C. For the purpose of Clauses A and B above, the Core Hours for 
applications for each premises use type as defined within this policy are:

1. Casinos 
Up to 24 hours a day whilst casino gaming is permitted 
by a premises licence under the Gambling Act 2005.

2. Cinemas, Cultural Venues and Live Sporting Premises 
Monday to Sunday: 9am to Midnight.

3. Delivery Centres  
Monday to Saturday: 8am to 11pm.   
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm.

4. Hotels 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 
For the sale of alcohol to guests for consumption in 
hotel/guest rooms only: Anytime up to 24 hours.

5. Outdoor Spaces 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight.

6. Pubs and bars, Fast Food and Music and Dance venues 
Monday to Thursday: 10am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 10am to Midnight. 
Sunday: Midday to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: Midday to Midnight.

7. Qualifying Clubs 
Monday to Thursday 9am to 11.30pm 
Friday and Saturday 9am to Midnight 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm  
Sunday immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight.

8. Restaurants 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight.

9. Sexual Entertainment Venues and Sex Cinemas 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm. 
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight. 
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight.

10a. Shops (all licensable activities that are provided as ancillary to the 
primary use of the premises as a shop except the off sale of alcohol) 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm.   
Friday and Saturday: 9am to Midnight.   
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm.  
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to Midnight. 

10b. Shops (off-sales of alcohol where it forms either the ancillary  
or primary use of the premises) 
Monday to Saturday: 8am to 11pm.   
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm. 

D. Core hours are when customers are permitted to be on 
the premises and therefore the maximum opening hours 
permitted will be to the same start and terminal hours for 
each of the days where licensable activity is permitted.

E. For the purposes of this policy, ‘premises uses’ are defined within 
the relevant premises use policies within this statement.

Note: The core hours are for all licensable activities but 
if an application includes late night refreshment then the 
starting time for that licensable activity will be 11pm.

63 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-028

page 137



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

Reasons for Policy HRS1

E1. This policy applies to all new and variation applications for 
premises licences and club premises certificates. Applications 
must include a ‘within the hours’ section and operating schedule 
of the hours in which premises are open to customers, and 
the hours when licensable activities are taking place. This will 
include any proposals for seasonal occasions, e.g. New Year’s 
Eve or special event variations to the proposed hours.

E2. Westminster has operated its Core Hours policy since the introduction 
of the Licensing Act 2003. Core hours are an essential element 
to ensure businesses can operate for a reasonable period whilst 
protecting the impact on the licensing objectives. In its Revised 
Guidance the Government acknowledges that different licensing 
approaches may be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives in different areas, and that Licensing Authorities are best 
placed to make decisions regarding licensing opening hours as 
part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement30.

E3. It is the Licensing Authority’s intention to generally grant licences 
or variations to licences where the hours when customers are 
permitted to be on the premises are within the ‘core hours’ as set 
out within this policy. However, this is subject to the application 
meeting the other policies within this statement. These are not 
policies to refuse applications for hours longer than the core 
hours, and consideration will in all cases be given to the individual 
merits of an application. Where a proposal is made to operate 
outside these core hours each application will be considered on 
its merits against the criteria as set out under each policy.

E4. If an applicant intends to operate after midnight, operating schedules 
should include particular consideration to availability of transport 
via night buses, night tube and taxi and private hire vehicle services. 
The Licensing Authority expects applicants to consider how people 
using the premises are to depart from the premises and from the area. 
Applicants will be expected to demonstrate how customers will disperse 
from their premises within their operating schedule. Applications 
within the Cumulative Impact Zone or Special Consideration Zones 
will have to clearly demonstrate how customers will disperse, 
and a dispersal plan may be provided with the application.

E5. Westminster has the greatest concentration of licensed premises in 
the United Kingdom. Westminster has c.3700 licensed premises and 
many currently operate late into the night. There is extensive late-
night opening and a range of closing hours throughout the night.

E6. The Licensing Authority is aware of the impact that late night 
licensed premises can have on the extent of crime and disorder 
and the opportunities for crime, issues of public nuisance, and 
the need for a “window of opportunity” for the city to be cleaned 
– in the particular circumstances of Westminster with its already 
extensive late opening. The Revised Guidance acknowledges the 
primacy of the Licensing Authority to make decisions regarding 
licensed opening hours as part of the implementation of its licensing 
policy statement and recognising that licensing authorities are best 
placed to make such decisions based on their local knowledge 
and in consultation with other responsible authorities31.

E7. The council does not accept that in the circumstances of Westminster 
the granting of generally longer hours would result in a reduction 
in crime and disorder and public nuisance. It is prepared generally 
to grant premises licences for hours that will provide for longer 
hours at the end of the week outside the Cumulative Impact 
Zone. This enables people to travel home relatively easily by tube, 
train, bus, licensed private hire vehicle and/or taxi, while retaining 
opportunities for residents to have an additional respite on Sunday.

30 Paragraphs 10.13 and 14.51 Revised Home Office Guidance (April 2018)
31 Paragraphs 10.13 and 14.51 Revised Home Office Guidance (April 2018)

64 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-029

page 138



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

E8. The Licensing Authority expects applicants to consider how people 
using the premises are to depart from the venue and from the area 
and make reference to it in their operating schedule. As part of 
applications that intend to operate after 11pm, operating schedules 
should for instance give particular consideration to the availability of 
transport beyond that point and into the early hours of the morning 
in and around the venue. Venues that are some distance from either 
night tube stations or night bus stops will need to consider how 
patrons will leave their venue and in what directions. Licensed private 
hire vehicles and taxis may be used to take people from the venue. 
Businesses may need to consider how they will monitor and manage 
customers who are waiting for a private hire vehicle or taxi. It is known 
that customers in groups after leaving a licensed premise can cause 
public nuisance by disturbing residents living above or around it. This 
is more so the later at night the venue is open due to the reduction 
in ambient noise levels and the fact that residents may be asleep or 
attempting to sleep. It is also more likely that patrons leaving venues 
later at night during the summer months or during warmer weather 
may generate public nuisance as resident windows may be open. 
Applicants are encouraged to include a dispersal plan as part of their 
application. Dispersal plans are extremely useful in setting out the 
applicant’s approach and considerations to promoting the licensing 
objectives. They also assist residents and members to understand 
the likely dispersal methods patrons will have from the venue.

E9. Hours later than these core hours will be considered on their own 
merits in relation to other policies in the Statement of Licensing 
Policy. The council wishes to see a less alcohol-led and a more 
diverse range and variety of uses available later at night. The Licensing 
Authority will allow greater flexibility within its core hours approach 
for venues that add a more varied offer of entertainment and cultural 
activity. Cinemas, cultural venues (such as galleries and museums) 
and live sporting premises provide are generally considered as low 
risk where alcohol is provided as ancillary to the main premises 
use. Alcohol is also either limited in the type or quantity, e.g. wine 
and beer only or to specified timings, e.g. during an interval. These 
venues attract a diverse mix of visitors/customers. They are often 
from a large array of different age groups and include families. The 
council wishes to encourage a wider range of people to come and 
enjoy Westminster’s evening and night-time economy. We want 
residents and visitors to enjoy what Westminster has to offer. We 
also want to encourage a wider range of age groups to the city at 
night. It is understood that a wider range of age groups can act to 
curb anti-social behaviour. In doing this, it will further the licensing 
objectives of prevention of crime and disorder and public nuisance.

E10. The consideration of hours of operation will be in the context 
of the particular circumstances of each application and the 
licensing objectives. The hours at which noise may occur and 
disturbance of residents’ rest, relaxation and sleep will be of 
particular concern. In general, ensure that closing hours on nights 
when residents have to get up for work the next morning are 
earlier than when it is less likely that they will have to do so.

65 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-030

page 139



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

E11. Activity associated with late night licensed premises may have an 
impact on the local environment and may cause public nuisance. 
The effect of noise is greater later at night when ambient noise 
levels are lower, and residents are at home relaxing or wishing to 
sleep. The Licensing Authority, in considering the imposition of 
conditions, will focus on the most sensitive periods. For example, 
music noise from premises usually occurs from mid-evening until 
either late evening or early morning, when residents in adjacent 
properties will want to relax or sleep. Conditions relating to noise 
may also prove necessary to address any disturbance anticipated 
from the activities of customers in the vicinity of the premises32.

E12. Applicants should carefully consider the hours that they will wish to 
operate each licensable activity, and when to close their premises 
for the entry of customers and when to require them to leave. They 
should consider each licensable activity separately and carefully 
reflect this in their Operating Schedules. The Licensing Authority 
will similarly consider hours for licensable activities and closing 
times and appropriate conditions. The benefits of “winding down” 
periods (after the last sales of alcoholic drinks, while food and non-
alcoholic drinks are still available, when the volume and tempo of 
music is reduced, and the levels of lighting are increased) are widely 
recognised as helping to reduce crime and disorder and public 
nuisance. Applicants should consider the benefits of stopping serving 
alcohol before other licensable activities stop and a suitable time 
before the premises close and customers must leave. In noise-sensitive 
areas operators should consider stopping playing up tempo and 
bass-heavy music and switch to quieter, slower tempo music, with 
a less pronounced beat while other licensable activities continue.

E13. The consumption of alcohol on licensed premises is not directly 
regulated as a licensable activity under the Act but is clearly 
relevant in assessing whether the premises promote the licensing 
objectives. Similarly, the time to which customers are permitted 
to remain on licensed premises, and subsequently leave those 
premises, is also relevant. Notwithstanding that some licence 
holders, as a matter of good management, may restrict the sale 
and consumption of alcohol for a period of time before the end 
of opening hours as part of a “winding down” strategy described 
above, the Licensing Authority will, subject to other conditions and 
restrictions, impose conditions on a licence to restrict the time at 
which alcohol may be consumed on the premises and/or require 
that all customers leave the premises by a certain time where it 
considers it appropriate to do so to promote the licensing objectives.

E14. Applicants are encouraged not to apply for later hours than they will 
in fact operate; particularly the seeking of 24-hour licences where 
there is no intention of operating on a 24-hour basis. Responsible 
authorities will generally be more likely to make objections the later 
the hour that licensable activities are proposed to take place.

E15. Premises where regulated entertainment is provided to a seated 
audience (e.g. theatres, cinemas, other performance venues and 
qualifying clubs), provide a diverse range of cultural and entertainment 
facilities and are attended by a wide range of age groups. They have 
little association with crime and disorder or public nuisance. Because 
of this, these types of premises will be given an opportunity to operate 
more flexibly late at night and across the city. However, alcohol 
and late-night refreshment must be ancillary to the primary use of 
the venue and for those venues that have audiences, the additional 
hour for licensable activities beyond 11pm will be limited to that 
audience. Applications within the Cumulative Impact Zone will still 
have to demonstrate that they will not add to cumulative impact.

32 Paragraph 2.19 Revised Home Office Guidance (April 2018)

66 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-031

page 140



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

E16. Westminster offers an unparalleled range of shops ranging from 
small units to large department stores.  Shops will continually seek 
to provide a greater offer to their customers so that they will prolong 
the time customers spend in their premises and the opportunity 
to increase revenue.  The evolution of shops is also essential to 
enable premises-based retailers or service providers to compete 
with online competitors.  The Licensing Authority recognises that 
shop operators need to continually evolve and to achieve this 
may seek to provide licensable activities for their customers.  This 
may be via entertainment, the sale of alcohol for consumption 
on the premises or the provision of late-night refreshment.      

E17. The Core Hours for shops has been split into two elements.  The first 
set of core hours apply to shops that intend to provide licensable 
activities, other than the off sale of alcohol as an ancillary function to 
the primary use of the premises.  The second set of hours, which are 
more restrictive are specifically for the sale of alcohol for consumption 
off the premises. The Licensing Authority is specifically concerned with 
the availability of alcohol for consumption off the premises due to the 
risks on the licensing objectives, particularly relating to street drinking 
issues and pre-loading of alcohol before entering pubs, bars and clubs.

E18. In the past, qualifying clubs have had little association with crime 
and disorder or public nuisance. Through their membership 
requirements, they exert a degree of control over behaviour in 
and around their premises. Clubs that don’t fit the definition of a 
qualifying club and are operated on a commercial basis will be 
considered under the Public House and Bars Policy PB1.

E19. There is no doubt that improved transport provision, such as the night 
tube has had a variety of benefits and impacts for people living, working 
and visiting the city, and has supported the dispersal of people from an 
already buoyant evening and night-time economy. However, we have 
seen increases in violence, thefts, robberies and ambulance call-outs 
to underground stations that provide the night tube. There has also 
been a significant increase in private hire vehicle operators that can be 
booked instantly via apps over the past three years. The availability of 
these vehicles and ability to easily book them has assisted in dispersing 
people from the busiest areas of the West End to other parts of the city 
and elsewhere, and also to allow people to travel into the West End from 
the outskirts or outside the city at later hours throughout the night.

E20. The Licensing Authority recognises that the scale, diversity and 
concentration of the evening and night-time economy, particularly in 
the West End, is unique and brings cultural and financial benefits to the 
whole city. However, it also brings significant challenges that impacts on 
services and local amenity. The council believes that good management 
of licensed premises and of the street environment within which it 
operates, is essential to the continued success of central London, and in 
attracting a wide range of people who want to work, visit or live there.

E21. Statutory licensing policies are key tools in managing the competing 
pressures that the successful evening and night-time economy brings. 
They have been developed over many years to balance the benefits and 
impacts that arise for businesses, residents and visitors. It is important that 
when the impacts of licensed premises are assessed that such policies are 
reviewed and, if necessary, amended to ensure the Licensing Authority can 
continue to fulfil its duty under the Act to promote the licensing objectives.

E22. The core hours policy is a key policy in promoting the Licensing 
objectives, particularly relating to crime and disorder and public 
nuisance. The hours policy provides a set of core hours that relate to 
the location where an application may be made, or premises currently 
operates and for the specific premises use/operation of that premises.

67 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-032

page 141



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

E23. The West End has been designated as a Cumulative Impact Zone and 
the evidence to support this has been produced within the Licensing 
Authority’s 2020 Cumulative Impact Assessment. As a result, the West 
End Cumulative Impact Zone has a presumption to refuse certain 
types of premises use applications that are outside of Core Hours. 
This policy approach is necessary to promote the licensing objectives. 
Unlike the rest of the city this zone has the largest concentration of 
licensed premises in the city and, within the heart of this zone, the 
average incident rate is nine times greater than the rest of the city.

Non-Standard Hours

E24. In order to have conditions that are clear and enforceable the 
circumstances in which the non-standard hours will apply must be 
identifiable. This is to give an opportunity for representations to be made 
in relation to particular events and in order to provide predictability as to 
when non-standard hours will apply for the benefit of those who may 
be affected. The inclusion of particular national saints’ days will have to 
be considered in relation to the overall number of events. The particular 
clientele of premises may be a reason to seek non-standard hours for other 
national days. There should be no expectation of specific non-standard 
hours for any particular day. Premises not benefiting from exemptions for 
New Year’s Eve must seek it specifically or use a Temporary Event Notice.

68 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-033

page 142



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

Delivery Centre Policy DC1

A. Applications for a delivery centre outside the West End 
Cumulative Impact Zone will generally be granted subject to:

1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1,

2. The hours for licensable activities are within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1,

3. The applicant having taken account of the Special Consideration Zone 
Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated zone,

4. The premises are not located in a predominantly residential area, and

5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a delivery centre in Clause D.

B. Applications for a delivery centre within the West End Cumulative 
Impact Zone will be considered on their own merits and subject to:

1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1,

2. The hours for licensable activities are within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1,

3. The applicant having demonstrated that they will not add to 
cumulative impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone, 

4. The premises are not located within a 
predominantly residential area, and 

5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a delivery centre in Clause D.

C. Applications that do not meet Clause A or B will be considered 
on their own merits, subject to other relevant policies within 
this statement and the following considerations:

1. The likelihood of the effect of the grant of the licence for a 
delivery centre on the licensing objectives and whether the 
applicant has demonstrated that they will meet the criteria 
and considerations within policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1. 

2. The proposed hours for the operation of the delivery centre, 
whether they are beyond the Core Hours as set out in Policy 
HRS1 and if so, what are the reasons for the additional hours 
and what has the applicant proposed as measures that will 
mitigate or eliminate any potential impact on the licensing 
objectives and residents in the vicinity of the premises.

3. If the application is located within:

a. the West End Cumulative Impact Zone, have they demonstrated 
that they will not add to cumulative impact, or,

b. a designated Special Consideration Zone, have they demonstrated 
that they have taken account of the issues identified in 
that area and put forward proposed mitigation measures in 
relation to those issues in accordance with Policy SCZ1, 

4. Whether the premises are located within a 
predominantly residential area and if so:

a. whether the applicant has engaged with local residents 
and/or local resident/amenity societies on the proposed 
application and the operation of the premises prior to 
submitting the application to the council, and

b. whether the applicant has put forward sufficient control 
measures within the operating schedule to mitigate or eliminate 
the potential impact on residents in the area and the licensing 
objectives that have been identified as part of the pre-application 
engagement with residents or following receipt of relevant 
representations following the statutory consultation period.

5. Whether the delivery personnel working from the delivery centre 
are directly employed by the applicant or whether the delivery 
service element of the operation will be provided by a third party,

6. How will the applicant ensure that the operation of the premises and 
the delivery service, operated directly by them with their own staff 
does not adversely impact the licensing objectives, breach the terms 
and conditions of the licence or commit offences under the Act. 

79 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-034

page 143



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

7.  If a third party will provide the delivery service element of the 
operation on behalf of the applicant what are the contractual 
arrangements with that third party to ensure that the operation 
of the delivery service from the delivery centre does not 
adversely impact the licensing objectives, breach the terms and 
conditions of the licence or commit offences under the Act, 

8. The operation and management of the proposed 
delivery centre from the premises, 

9. The types of vehicles that will be used for the delivery 
of alcohol and/or late-night refreshment and whether 
they will likely create public nuisance,

10. When will deliveries to the delivery centre 
or waste collection take place.

11. The history of the applicant’s operation of licensed premises and 
the premise’s operation in relation to any impact on the licensing 
objectives, breaches of any terms and conditions of a licence, 
any reviews of a licence or offences committed under the Act,

12. In addition to Sub-clause 6 and 7 above what measures the applicant 
or the third party providing the delivery service has put forward to 
mitigate the specific risk of public nuisance by the operation of the 
delivery service at the premises or at the end point of delivery,

13. In addition to sub-clause 6 and 7 above what specific measures  
and processes the applicant or the third party providing the delivery 
service has put forward to mitigate the risk from the delivery of 
alcohol to children to ensure that they are protected from harm.  

D. For the purposes of this policy a delivery centre is a premises that’s 
primary function is to temporarily store alcohol and/or to prepare 
hot food and hot drink, so that it is available when ordered for 
transportation to a customer’s residential or workplace location. 

E. For the purposes of Clause A.4 B.4 and C reference to 
‘a predominately residential area’ means an area of the 
city in which housing is the predominant use.

Reasons for Policy DC1

F30. There has been a growing interest from businesses seeking to find 
a location within Westminster where they can store and distribute 
alcohol and/or late-night refreshment to customers at home. This 
includes so called ‘dark kitchens’ where food is prepared for delivery 
only. The operation of the delivery service to customers will be the 
primary use of the premises. In some cases, applicants may offer 
an ancillary retail element to their operation for click and collect 
customers. This policy is only intended to apply to applications 
where the primary use of the premises is the storage, preparation, 
and delivery of alcohol and/or late-night refreshment to customers 
residential properties or places of work. Where a business intends 
to provide a delivery service as ancillary to their main operation, 
for example a traditional off licence or restaurant then they will 
be considered under the relevant premises use and the ancillary 
alcohol and/or late-night refreshment delivery service policies.

F31. The majority of businesses that operate a delivery service as their 
primary function will take orders, including those for alcohol and/
or late-night refreshment via their own websites or via a third-
party site, dedicated mobile applications and/or telephone centres. 
The fulfilment of the contract of the sale of alcohol and/or late-
night refreshment will require a licence. For example, the location 
of the call centre, if located in a different location from the place 
where the alcohol and/or late-night refreshment is provided will 
not require a licence from the Licensing Authority. However, the 
location where the alcohol is stored, or the food for late night 
refreshment is prepared and packaged for delivery to customers at 
their homes or workplaces would require a licence. For example, a 
warehouse where alcohol is picked and then sent directly to delivery 
to a customer at home would require a premises licence under 
the Act for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises. 

80 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-035

page 144



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

Shops Policy SHP1 

A. Applications for a shop outside the West End Cumulative 
Impact Zone will generally be granted subject to: 

1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1. 

2. The hours for licensable activities are within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1. 

3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol 
meeting the council’s Ancillary Alcohol and/or Late-
night Refreshment Delivery Service Policy DEL1. 

4. The applicant having taken account of the Special Consideration Zone 
Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated zone. 

5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a shop in Clause C. 

B. Applications for a shop inside the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone will be considered on their own merits and subject to: 

1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1. 

2. The hours for licensable activities are within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1. 

3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol 
meeting the council’s Ancillary Alcohol and/or Late-
night Refreshment Delivery Service Policy DEL1. 

4. The applicant having demonstrated that they will not add to 
cumulative impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone. 

5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a shop in Clause C.

C. For the purposes of this policy: 

1. A shop is defined as a stall, vehicle, vessel, temporary 
structure, building or part of a stall, vehicle, vessel, temporary 
structure or building where the primary activity is the sale 
of goods or services to customers upon payment. 

2. The licensable activities for the sale of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises, regulated entertainment and/or late night refreshment 
must be ancillary to the primary use of the premises as a shop. 

3. The licensable activity of the sale of alcohol for consumption 
off the premises must be an ancillary function to the primary 
use of the premises unless that primary use is to sell alcohol for 
consumption off the premises, e.g. a traditional off licence. 

Reasons for Policy SHP1 

F140. Westminster offers an unparalleled range of shops ranging from small 
units to large department stores. The West End and Knightsbridge 
are International Centres providing London’s prime retail destinations 
offering specialist and comparison retail of regional and national 
importance that draws in international visitors. The West End 
International Centre includes Oxford Street, Regent Street and Bond 
Street, while Knightsbridge International Centre includes Brompton 
Road and extends beyond the city boundary in the Royal Borough 
of Kensington and Chelsea. Westminster attracts international 
retail brands to our City due to its unique historic character 
and the large number of domestic and international visitors. 

F141. Recent changes in the Use Class Order under planning legislation 
recognise that to ensure long-term sustainability, town centres and 
high streets need to be able to adapt to changing consumer demands 
and behaviours. These changes combine several town centre uses 
under a new Class E (commercial, business and service uses) with the 
aim of enabling a shift towards mixed-use and multi-purpose spaces. 

108 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-036

page 145



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

F142. The council’s City Plan and this policy support the evolution of 
Westminster’s town centres and high streets as multifunctional 
commercial areas where a mix of commercial uses provide activity at 
street level and creates a welcoming, attractive and healthy environment 
for people to shop, access services, work and spend leisure time. 

F143. The Licensing Authority recognises that shop operators need 
to continually evolve to compete with online retailers as well 
as keep existing customers and attract new ones into their 
stores. As part this evolution shops often seek to provide other 
activities within their premises that will help them achieve 
this. This can include activities that are licensable. 

F144. The Licensing Authority is keen to support shops who wish to offer 
ancillary licensable activities to the main purpose of their shop. 
However, the Licensing Authority will expect shop operators to 
apply for licensable activities that will be operated in a way that 
will promote the licensing objectives and not impact residents. 
Operators must manage the provision of licensable activities in a 
responsible way so as to ensure that those activities do not adversely 
change the character of the premises main use as a shop. 

F145. This policy is intended to apply to premises offer the retail sale of 
goods or provide services to customers as the primary use of the 
premises. Common examples of a premises that would be considered 
under this policy will include traditional off licences, speciality stores, 
supermarkets, department stores, general stores, boutique, outlets, 
delicatessens, butchers, grocers, hairdressers, massage parlours, or 
anything of a similar nature where the primary use is the purchase 
of goods by customers or to provide a service. Cafes, coffee shops 
or similar venues providing food for takeaway or for consumption 
on the premises will be considered under either the Fast-Food 
Premises or Restaurant policies. The sale of alcohol for consumption 
off the premises can form the primary function of the premises, 
e.g. traditional off licences. However, all other licensable activities, 
including the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises 
must be ancillary to the main use of the premises as a shop. 

F146. The Licensing Authority will generally grant applications outside the 
West End Cumulative Impact Zone that are within Core Hours as 
set out in the policy HRS1, subject to not being contrary to other 
policies in the licensing statement. Applications within the West End 
Cumulative Impact Zone will be considered on their own merits 
and subject to the specific considerations of this policy, including 
whether the premises would add to cumulative impact in the area. 

F147. Revised Guidance recommends that shops selling alcohol should 
generally be permitted to match the hours during which they may 
sell alcohol with their normal trading hours, unless there are good 
reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those 
hours. This is in the context of paragraph 10.13 of Revised Guidance 
which states that licensing authorities are best placed to make 
decisions about appropriate opening hours in their areas based on 
local knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities. 

F148. The hours when shops can start to sell alcohol for consumption 
off the premises will be specifically considered when determining 
applications. This is because problematic street drinkers, and other 
people who are seriously addicted to alcohol, may be drawn to shops 
that sell alcohol earlier in the morning and create public nuisance. 

F149. There are problems of street drinking found across the city. While there 
are some areas with recurring problems of street drinking ‘schools’, 
they also crop up in different areas at different times and seasons. 
Shops selling alcohol can be a focus of antisocial behaviour, disorder, 
and disturbance. These include the day-long consumption of alcohol 
on the street and in open spaces by groups of drinkers who cause 
various types of public nuisance and engage in antisocial behaviour. In 
the Victoria Special Consideration Zone, for example, new licences for 
the off sale of alcohol will be considered in the light of the problems 
of street drinking in that area and may be restricted in their numbers 
and have conditions imposed on their management and supervision. 

109 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-037

page 146



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

F150. If there are significant concerns associated with street drinkers 
in the area the Licensing Authority may impose conditions that 
there should be no sale of alcoholic beverages over a specified 
limit of alcohol by volume or of specified quantities (e.g. of beers, 
lagers and ciders over 5.5% alcoholic content by volume). Other 
conditions may be imposed directed at reducing problematic street 
drinking. There will be concerns over irresponsible drink promotions 
that do not follow best practice, that would appeal to underage 
drinkers or street drinkers or encourage excessive consumption. 

F151. Some shops selling alcohol in Westminster’s commercial and residential 
areas have been a focus for anti-social behaviour, disorder and 
disturbance. This has been caused by street drinkers and underage 
drinkers who have tried to obtain or have obtained alcohol from 
such premises. Due to these concerns over crime, disorder and 
disturbance, the Licensing Authority will not, as a general rule, grant 
applications for the 24- hour sale of alcohol for consumption off 
the premises for premises outside the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone. It will consider seriously any representation made by the police, 
other responsible authorities, and relevant representations from other 
persons and will consider Policy HRS1 in determining applications. 

F152. The council has introduced a controlled drinking zone across the 
whole city, by making Orders to give police powers to stop street 
drinking and seize alcohol and receptacles under the powers of the 
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001. Originally it introduced such 
a zone in the south of the city centred on Victoria. It extended this 
zone northwards in April 2004, acknowledging that the problems 
were widespread and that the awareness of the boundary of the zone 
gave rise to drinkers congregating just outside it. Short term Dispersal 
Zones have also been used in various parts of the city to break up 
street drinking “schools” and disrupt patterns of street drinking. These 
Orders continue to be in force under the Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

F153. Where the police or others make representations against the grant of 
a further licence for off-sales, because of their serious concerns over 
problems of street drinking or late-night disorder associated with the 
off sale of alcohol in the area, the Licensing Authority will give specific 
consideration to restricting the number, type, and the hours of premises 
selling alcohol exclusively for consumption off the premises. This is to 
hinder both underage drinkers and problematic street drinkers masking 
their consumption by purchasing from a series of premises and using 
a number of premises to try to buy alcohol if they are refused in one. 

F154. Where there are representations on problems of late-night 
disorder (these are generally within the West End Cumulative 
Impact Zone) the hours for the sale of alcohol on and/or off the 
premises may be conditioned to be less than core hours. 

F155. In appropriate cases, the hours of selling alcohol for consumption 
off the premises may be conditioned to cease before the terminal 
hour of premises in the vicinity supplying alcohol for consumption 
on the premises. This is to discourage the consumption of 
alcohol on the streets after premises in the vicinity which sell 
alcohol for consumption on the premises have closed. 

F156. Whilst it is likely that shops providing licensable activities beyond core 
hours may add to cumulative impact in the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone the Licensing Authority is not, at this time, going to implement 
a general presumption against new licences for shops, or restrict their 
hours below the current core hours as set out within the council’s 
Core Hours Policy HRS1. The restriction of premises to core hours, the 
requirement on applicants to demonstrate how their operation will not 
add to cumulative impact and the imposition of conditions can be an 
effective means of promoting the licensing objectives. However, this 
will be considered on a case by case basis and upon their own merits. 

110 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-038

page 147



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

F157. The proliferation of premises for the sale of alcohol off the 
premises is of concern if it leads to consumption of alcohol on 
the streets or being carried into premises licensed to sell alcohol 
on the premises. In light of the evidence it has considered, the 
Licensing Authority is concerned that alcohol loading from off-
licence sales is a significant problem, particularly within the 
West End and adversely affects the licensing objectives. 

F158. It is accepted that shops may wish to include areas within their 
premises where customers can eat and drink. The sale of alcohol 
on the premises must be an ancillary function to the main use 
of the premises. Applications that include the sale of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises will need to ensure that adequate 
measures are put forward to ensure that this activity will not 
adversely impact the licensing objectives. Applications within 
the West End Cumulative Impact Zone that wish to sell alcohol 
for consumption on the premises beyond 9pm will also need 
demonstrate that they will not add to cumulative impact in the area. 

F159. This policy is intended to enable a limited provision for the sale 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises in shops. Shop 
environments, their operation and management and staff are likely 
not able to manage significant sales of alcohol consumption and the 
potential adverse impacts that it can cause. The licensing authority 
seeks to ensure that shops do not turn into premises that offer 
significant amounts of alcohol for consumption on the premises. 
This policy sets out a limit to the total amount of alcohol sales that 
can be provided for consumption on the premises and to ensure 
that such sales are indeed ancillary to the main use as a shop. 

F160. Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority may condition premises 
licences determined under this policy to ensure the licensable 
activities do not exceed a level that could reasonably be expected 
of shops, for example limiting the proportion of sales that alcohol 
can make up or limiting the licence to a particular operator. 

F161. The provision of entertainment, such as live music can provide a 
significant draw to a premises. Entertainment can add to the experience 
of shopping at the premises which elevates it above its competitors. 
Shop operators who wish to provide regulated entertainment on 
their premises must ensure that this is an ancillary function to the 
main use of the premises as a shop. Adequate measures must be 
included in the applications operating schedule to ensure that the 
entertainment will promote the licensing objectives. Particular 
attention will need to be given to the impact of noise and ensure 
public safety. Entertainment of an adult nature must not be provided 
in shop that is often frequented by children or families. Applications 
wishing to provide entertainment that is directed at adults must ensure 
that children are protected and access to children is restricted. In 
certain circumstances the adult entertainment may be regulated and 
require an additional authorisation from the Licensing Authority. 

F162. The sale of alcohol from shops can be a small part of their overall 
business or, in the case of traditional off licences, can be their primary 
products. Applicants will be expected to ensure that the sale of 
alcohol is adequately managed to ensure that alcohol is not sold 
to anyone under the age of 18. The Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to implement think 21 or think 25 policies associated 
with age verification. Staff training is also extremely important to 
reduce the risk that alcohol will be sold illegally. The Licensing 
Authority will take a robust approach to any licensee who knowingly 
or negligently sell or enables the sale of alcohol to children. 

F163. The Licensing Authority will impose, where appropriate to 
promote the licensing objectives, conditions on the checking 
of the age of those who appear under 21 or 25 to ensure that 
alcohol is not sold to those under 18, Licence holders of smaller 
outlets need to have sufficient day to day control of operations. 
They can be held responsible for breaches of the licence and 
that they have not provided adequate staffing and training. 

111 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-039

page 148



 |  |  |  |  | 
 |  |  |  |  |  | 

F164. The sale of alcohol to underage young people, which, apart from 
being a criminal offence, gives rise to disorder, public nuisance 
and concerns over public safety and harm to children. The sale of 
alcohol to people who consume it on the way to other premises 
gives rise to problems of drunkenness and disorderly behaviour. 

F165. The council and police will continue to use young people for 
test purchasing of alcohol and CCTV, which has proved its 
usefulness in prosecutions for unlawful sales of alcohol. The likely 
consequences of review of licences for underage sales include 
the imposition of additional conditions such as the attendance of 
a personal licence holder and, where appropriate, revocation. 

F166. The Licensing Authority will expect applications to set out within 
their operating schedule how the premises will operate, where 
licensable activities will take place, what conditions and mitigation 
measures they propose to ensure that the premises promotes the 
licensing objectives, the training procedures and staffing levels within 
the premises and the types, quantities and whether alcohol is high 
strength; and where and how alcohol will be securely stored. 

112 | STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2021 GB-040

page 149



 

Premises History            Appendix 3 
 

 
There is no licence or appeal history for the premises.

page 150



 
 

Appendix 4 
 
CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Mandatory Conditions 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises 

supervisor in respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor 

does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who 

holds a personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry 

out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the 
premises. 

 
(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the 

following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require 

or encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol 
sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in 
which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or 
otherwise); 

 
(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 

discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in 
a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage 

or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or 

page 151



less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing 
objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, 

or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to 
condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects 
of drunkenness in any favourable manner; 

 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than 

where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a 
disability). 

 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 

customers where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that 

an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the 
sale or supply of alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must 

ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with 
the age verification policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be 

under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to 

produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their 

photograph, date of birth and either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on 

the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up 

in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available 

to customers in the following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material 

which is available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of 

alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are 
available. 

 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence 
in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 
18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  
For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 

page 152



 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 

off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 
1979; 

 
(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 

 
P = D+(DxV) 

 
Where - 

  
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     

were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if 

the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the 
alcohol; 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 

force a premises licence - 
   

(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, 

or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    

alcohol under such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply 
in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 

Added Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this 

paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph 
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the 
nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by 

Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the 
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the 
rate of duty or value added tax. 

(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or 
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days 
beginning on the second day. 

 

page 153



Conditions consistent with the operating schedule: 
 
9. All staff will be fully trained in their responsibilities and with regard to the 
 promotion of the licensing objective in particular sale of alcohol, and will be 
 retrained every six months, with recorded training records kept for inspection. 
 
10.  A CCTV system is in operation for the warehouse, to provide security and 
 identify any culprit who is intent in causing trouble. All images are stored for a 
 period of 31 days after which they can be erased or saved at the request of 
 the police. All current security measures will remain in operation. All staff will 
 be fully trained in the operation of the CCTV to ensure it is operational all the 
 hours of trade. Images will be made available to the police or authorised 
 licensing officer from the council on request. 
 
11.  All potential customers must verify on the payment page of the website that 
 they are at least 18 years of age. If the applicant is in any doubt as to the age 
 of the customer, they will only deliver the alcohol if the owner of the card that 
 made the payment is present at the delivery address; Orders will only be 
 despatched to bona fide addresses; 
 
 i)  No deliveries will be made to an open space, 
 ii)  All sales of alcohol for delivery must be paid for by credit card, debit card  
  (prepaid or otherwise) or electronic payment, 
 iii)  Details of the order (including the type, amount of alcohol, name and address 
  of the customer and delivery address if different) must be included with the 
  order. The detail shall be shown on the printout dispatched with the order, 
 iv)  All delivery drivers and riders must allow any police or authorised local 
  authority officers to inspect any alcohol, 
 v) Deliveries only made to those over the age of 18. 
 
12.  A challenge 25 age verification scheme will be used. ID will be required for 
 deliveries to customers who do not look 25 years old. They will be required to 
 prove by way of photographic ID, either a passport or driving licence that they 
 are at least 18. The card used for purchase will also be checked against the 
 ID provided. If the business is in any doubt then the delivery of alcohol will not 
 be made, and a full refund will be issued. Postal/ carriage deliveries will only 
 be made once a verified payment method has been established, and the 
 customer has confirmed they are 18 or over when making the purchase. 
 
 
Conditions proposed by the Environmental Health Consultation team and agreed by the 
applicant. 
 
13.  All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed containers only, 
 and shall not be consumed on the premises 
 
14. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall 
 emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 
 premises which gives rise to a nuisance 
 

15. The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will be instructed not to 
 loiter in the vicinity of residential premises  

 
16.  The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to 

congregate in the immediate vicinity of the premises  
 

page 154



17.  The premises Licence Holder shall ensure that riders/drivers will not be permitted to 
 smoke in the immediate vicinity of the premises 

 
18.  Deliveries shall only be made to a bona fide residential or business addresses 
 
19.  Delivery drivers/riders shall wait inside the premises between deliveries/ for deliveries  
 
20.  Delivery drivers/riders shall be given clear written instructions to use their vehicles in a 

 responsible manner so as not to cause a nuisance to any residents or generally outside 
 of the licenced premises    
 

21.  All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 
 minutes before the scheduled collection times 

 
22.  During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient 

 measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from 
 customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be 
 swept and or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with 
 the approved refuse storage arrangements by close from the Licence by the licensing 
 authority. 

 
 
Conditions proposed by the Metropolitan Police Service. 
 
None. 
 

page 155



 

Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity         Appendix 5 
 

 
 
Resident Count: 218 
 

Licensed premises within 75 Metres of 145-147 Edgware Road, London W2 2HR 

Licence Number Trading Name Address 
Premises 
Type Time Period 

19/11257/LIPT Tarboush 

143 Edgware 
Road London W2 
2HR Restaurant 

Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday 
to Saturday; 
10:00 - 01:30 

15/04057/LIPN 
Raging Ball Sports 
Club (Basement) 

Raging Ball 
Snooker Club 159 
- 163 Edgware 
Road London W2 
2HR 

Snooker hall 
or club 

Monday to 
Sunday; 00:00 - 
00:00 

page 156



09/05903/LIPV 
Melur Malaysian 
Restaurant 

175A Edgware 
Road London W2 
1ET Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 12:00 - 
04:00 

10/09311/LIPRW Salwa Takeaway 
4 Crawford Place 
London W1H 5NB 

Takeaway 
food outlet 

Monday to 
Sunday; 07:00 - 
05:00 

16/06140/LIPT McDonald's 

178 - 180 Edgware 
Road London W2 
2DS Restaurant 

Monday to 
Sunday; 05:00 - 
00:00 

21/14249/LIPDPS Waitrose 

168 - 176 Edgware 
Road London W2 
2DS Shop 

Monday to 
Sunday; 08:00 - 
23:00 

 
 
 
 

page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



        
 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   

   

Date:  31 March 2022 

   

Licensing Ref No:  21/14563/LIPN - New Premises Licence 

   

Title of Report:  Americana 
Basement And Ground Floor 
11-12 Haymarket 
London 
SW1Y 4BP 

   

Report of:  Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

Wards involved:  St James's 

   

Policy context:  City of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy  
 

   

Financial summary:  None 

   

Report Author:  Karyn Abbott 
Licensing Officer 

   

Contact details  Telephone: 0207 641 6500 
Email: kabbott@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Report 

page 159

Agenda Item 3.



 
1. Application 

 

1-A Applicant and premises 
 

Application Type: New Premises Licence, Licensing Act 2003 
 

Application received date: 20 December 2021 

Applicant: Curzon And Haymarket Ltd 

Premises: Americana 

Premises address: Basement And Ground 
Floor 
11-12 Haymarket 
London 
SW1Y 4BP 

Ward: 
 

St James’s 

Cumulative 
Impact Area: 

None 

 Special 
Consideration 
Zone: 

West End 
Buffer 

Premises description: 
 

According to the application form, the premises proposes to 
operate as a restaurant. 

Premises licence history: 
 

The premises currently has the benefit of a premises licence 
(19/11470/LIPCH) which was granted in January 2007. This 
can be found at Appendix 3. 
 
The applicant has also applied for Pre-Application advice 
(21/05168/PREAPM), and a short paragraph from the applicant 
regarding the Pre-App can be found at Appendix 2. 
 
The premises has the benefit of a Shadow Licence 
(21/05216/LIPN), details can be found at Appendix 4. 
 
The premises also had the benefit of Temporary Event Notices, 
and the history can be found at Appendix 4. 
 

Applicant submissions: The applicant has provided submissions addressing the 
relevant spatial policies plus a dispersal policy and menu which 
can be found at Appendix 2. 

Applicant amendments: None 

 

1-B Proposed licensable activities and hours 
 

Late Night Refreshment: Indoors, outdoors or both Both 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 23:00 

End: 01:00 01:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

On the morning that GMT changes to BST, one hour shall be 
added to the terminal hour of any activities/closing time where 
the existing terminal /closing hour for activities/the premises 
ends after 01.00. 
 
From the end of hours permitted on NYE to the start of the 
permitted hours on NYD 

 
 
 

page 160



 

Sale by retail of alcohol On or off sales or both: 
 

Both 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 10:00 12:00 

End: 01:00 01:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 03:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

On the morning that GMT changes to BST, one hour shall be 
added to the terminal hour of any activities/closing time where 
the existing terminal /closing hour for activities/the premises 
ends after 01.00. 
 
From the end of hours permitted on NYE to the start of the 
permitted hours on NYD 

 

Hours premises are open to the public 
 

Day: Mon Tues Wed Thur Fri Sat Sun 
 

Start: 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

End: 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 

Seasonal variations/ Non-
standard timings: 

None 

Adult Entertainment:  None 
 

  
2. Representations 

 

2-A Responsible Authorities 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Metropolitan Police Service 

Representative:  PC Adam Deweltz 

Received:  
 

5 January 2022 

RE: Premises Licence Application for Basement and Ground Floor 11-12 Haymarket, 
SW1Y 4BP. 
With reference to the above, I am writing to inform you that the Metropolitan Police, as a 
responsible authority, are making a representation against this application.  
The venue is situated within Westminster City Council’s West End Buffer Special Consideration 
Zone. It is our belief that if granted, the application could undermine the Licensing Objectives in 
relation to The Prevention of Crime and Disorder.  
 
The Metropolitan Police Service has proposed condition by these have yet to be agreed 
by the applicant. These conditions can be found at Appendix 4. 
 

Responsible 
Authority: 

Environmental Health Service 

Representative: Dave Nevitt 
 

Received: 
 

17 January 2022 

I wish to make Representations on the following grounds: 
Representation is made in relation to the application, as the proposals are likely to increase the 
risk of Public Nuisance and may impact upon Public Safety. 
 

page 161



 
3. Policy & Guidance 

 

The following policies within the City Of Westminster Statement of Licensing Policy apply: 
 

Policy SCZ1 applies A. In addition to meeting the other policies within this statement, 
applications within a designated Special Consideration Zone should 
demonstrate that they have taken account of the issues particular 
to the Zone, in question as identified within the 2020 Cumulative 
Impact Assessment, and should set out any proposed mitigation 
measures in relation to those issues within their operating schedule. 
B. For the purpose of Clause A, the designated Special 
Consideration Zones are: 
• West End Buffer. 
• Queensway/Bayswater. 
• Edgware Road. 
• East Covent Garden. 
• Mayfair. 
• Victoria. 

Policy HRS1 applies A. Applications within the core hours set out below in this policy will 
generally be granted for the relevant premises uses, subject to not 
being contrary to other policies in the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
B. Applications for hours outside the core hours set out in Clause 
C will be considered on their merits, subject to other relevant 
policies, and with particular regard to the following: 
1. The demonstration of compliance in the requirements of policies 
CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1 associated with the likelihood of the effect 
of the grant of a licence for later or earlier hours on crime and 
disorder, public safety, public nuisance and the protection of children 
from harm. 
2. If the application is located within a Special Consideration Zone 
they have demonstrated that they have taken account of the 
issues identified in that area and provided adequate mitigation. 
3. Whether there is residential accommodation in the proximity of 
the premises that would likely be adversely affected by premises 
being open or carrying out operations at the hours proposed. 
4. The proposed hours of the licensable activities and when 
customers will be permitted to remain on the premises. 
5. The proposed hours when any music, including incidental music, 
will be played. 
6. The hours when customers will be allowed to take food or drink 
outside the premises or be within open areas which form part of the 
premises. 
7. The existing hours of licensable activities and the past operation 
of the premises (if any) and hours of licensable premises in the 
vicinity. 
8. Whether customers and staff have adequate access to public 
transport when arriving at and leaving the premises, especially at 
night. 
9. The capacity of the premises. 
10. The type of use, recognising that some venues are more likely to 
impact the licensing objectives than others; for example, pubs 
and bars are higher risk than theatres, cinemas and other cultural 
and sporting venues due to the nature of the operation. 
11. The Licensing Authority will take into account the active 
measures proposed for a ‘winding down’ period including 
arrangements for people to be collected from the premises to travel 

page 162



home safely. 
12. Conditions on hours may be attached that require that the supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises ceases a suitable period 
of time before customers are required to leave the premises. 
13. The council, acting as the Licensing Authority, may reduce hours 
if, after review, it is necessary to impose conditions specifying 
shorter hours in order to promote the licensing objectives. 
14. Specific days for non-standard hours should be identified and 
justified as part of the application to allow responsible authorities 
and interested parties to evaluate the impact that these licensable 
activities may have, and to plan accordingly. The consideration of 
applications for later hours for Bank Holiday Mondays will take into 
account that later hours are generally granted for preceding 
Sundays and that the next day is a working day. Non-specific days 
are expected to be covered by Temporary Event Notices or variation 
applications. 
C. For the purpose of Clauses A and B above, the Core Hours for 
applications for each premises use type as defined within this policy 
are: 
8. Restaurants 
Monday to Thursday: 9am to 11.30pm.  
Friday and Saturday: 9am to 12am.  
Sunday: 9am to 10.30pm.  
Sundays immediately prior to a bank holiday: 9am to 12am. 
D. Core hours are when customers are permitted to be on the 
premises and therefore the maximum opening hours permitted will 
be to the same start and terminal hours for each of the days where 
licensable activity is permitted.                                                           
E. For the purposes of this policy, ‘premises uses’ are defined within 
the relevant premises use policies within this statement. 

Policy RNT1 applies A. Applications outside the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone will generally be granted subject to: 
1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1. 
2. The hours for licensable activities being within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1. 
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or latenight 
refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery 
of Alcohol and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1. 
4. The applicant has taken account of the Special Consideration 
Zones 
Policy SCZ1 if the premises are located within a designated zone. 
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a restaurant as per Clause C. 
B. Applications inside the West End Cumulative Impact 
Zone will generally be granted subject to: 
1. The application meeting the requirements of 
policies CD1, PS1, PN1 and CH1. 
2. The hours for licensable activities are within 
the council’s Core Hours Policy HRS1. 
3. The operation of any delivery services for alcohol and/or latenight 
refreshment meeting the council’s Ancillary Delivery 
of Alcohol and/or Late-Night Refreshment Policy DEL1. 
4. The applicant has demonstrated that they will not add to 
cumulative impact within the Cumulative Impact Zone. 
5. The application and operation of the venue meeting 
the definition of a restaurant as per Clause C. 

page 163



C. For the purposes of this policy a restaurant is defined as: 
1. A premises in which customers are shown to their table or 
the customer will select a table themselves to which food is 
either served to them or they have collected themselves. 
2. Which provide food in the form of substantial table meals that are 
prepared on the premises and are served and consumed at a table. 
3. Which do not provide any takeaway service of food and/or drink 
for immediate consumption, except if provided via an ancillary 
delivery service to customers at their residential or workplace 
address. 
4. Where alcohol shall not be sold, supplied, or consumed on the 
premises otherwise than to persons who are bona fide taking 
substantial table meals and provided always that the consumption 
of alcohol by such persons is ancillary to taking such meals.  
5. The sale and consumption of alcohol prior to such meals may be 
in a bar area but must also be ancillary to the taking of such meal. 

 
4.         Equality Implications 
 

The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to  
its public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In  
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of  
its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  

Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
5. Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Premises plans 

Appendix 2 
 

Applicant supporting documents  

Appendix 3 
 

Premises history 
 

Appendix 4 
 

Proposed conditions 

Appendix 5 Residential map and list of premises in the vicinity 
 

 

Report author: Karyn Abbott 
Licensing Officer 

Contact: Telephone: 0207 641 6500 
Email: kabbott@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 

page 164



If you have any queries about this report or wish to inspect one of the background 
papers please contact the report author. 
 

Background Documents – Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 
 

1 Licensing Act 2003 N/A 
 

2 City of Westminster Statement of Licensing  
Policy  

October 2021 

3 Amended Guidance issued under section 182 of  
the Licensing Act 2003  

April 2018 

4 Metropolitan Police Service 5 January 2022 

5 Environmental Health Service 17 January 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 165



 
Premises Plans          Appendix 1 

 

 
 
 

page 166



 

page 167



 
Applicant Supporting Documents        Appendix 2 

 
Prior to lodging the application, a pre-app meeting was held on site with follow up discussions. 
A further meeting with the police and EHO was held on site. The application has been made in 
the light of the advice and comments received from Police and EH. 

 
 

page 168



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 169



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 170



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 171



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 172



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 173



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 174



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 175



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

page 176



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

page 177



 

 

page 178



Premises History         Appendix 3 
 
Licensing Act 2003 History  

Application Details of Application Date 
Determined 

Decision 

06/11510/LIPN Application for a Premises 
Licence 
Exhibition of a Film: Monday to 
Saturday - 10:00 to 03:00 
Exhibition of a Film: Sunday - 
12:00 to 23:00 
Performance of Live Music: 
Monday to Saturday - 10:00 to 
03:00 
Performance of Live Music: 
Sunday - 12:00 to 23:00 
Playing of Recorded Music: 
Monday to Saturday - 10:00 to 
03:00 
Playing of Recorded Music: 
Sunday - 12:00 to 23:00 
Performance of Dance: Monday 
to Saturday - 10:00 to 03:00 
Performance of Dance: Sunday - 
12:00 to 23:00 
Provision for entertainment 
of a similar description to Live 
Music, Recorded Music 
and Dance: Monday to 
Saturday - 10:00 to 03:00 
Provision for entertainment 
of a similar description to 
Live Music, Recorded Music 
and Dance: Sunday - 12:00 
to 23:00 
Provision of facilities for making 
Music: Monday to Saturday - 
10:00 to 03:00 
Provision of facilities for making 
Music: Sunday - 12:00 to 23:00 
Provision of facilities for 
Dancing: Monday to Saturday - 
10:00 to 03:00 
Provision of facilities for 
Dancing: Sunday - 12:00 to 
23:00 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol: 
Monday to Saturday - 10:00 to 
03:00 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol: 
Sunday - 12:00 to 23:00 
Late Night Refreshment: Monday 
to Saturday - 23:00 to 03:00 

18 January 2007 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

07/01487/WCCMAP Master Licence  18 January 2007 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

09/01363/LIPCH Premises Licence – Change of 4 March 2009 Granted under 

page 179



Licensee Details Delegated 
Authority 

09/07840/LIPCHT Premises Licence – Change of 
Trading Name 

25 October 2009 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

09/08549/LIPV Vary a Premises Licence – 
Extend the hours for regulated 
Entertainment and Retail Sale of 
Alcohol and remove conditions 

1 December 
2009 

Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 
 

10/01881/LIPCHT Premises Licence – Change of 
Trading Name 

7 June 2010 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

10/02437/LIPT Transfer Premises Licence 
Holder from Mr Richard Traviss 
to Mr Yassin Baboo 

4 June 2010 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

10/02438/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

4 June 2010 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

11/00989/LIPT  Transfer Premises Licence 
Holder from Mr Yassin Baboo to 
Byron Hamburgers Limited 

8 April 2011 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

11/02008/LIPV Vary a Premises Licence – 
Change the Layout and remove 
a condition 

13 April 2011 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

11/03723/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

12 May 2011 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

11/05115/LIPVM Minor Variation – To Remove 
Conditions 

13 June 2011 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

11/08141/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

9 September 
2011 

Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

12/11311/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

1 February 2013 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

13/00376/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

1 February 2013 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

14/02493/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

29 April 2014 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

14/02972/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

29 April 2014 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

15/06233/LIPCH Premises Licence – Change of 
Licensee Details 

29 July 2015 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

15/11617/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

4 February 2016 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

16/08669/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

11 January 2017 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 
 

18/00551/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 1 March 2018 Granted under 

page 180



DPS Delegated 
Authority 

18/01081/LIPT Transfer Premises Licence 
Holder from Byron Hamburgers 
Limited to DMWSL 740 LIMITED 

1 March 2018 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

18/06824/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

30 July 2018 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

19/02950/LIPDPS Premises Licence Change of 
DPS 

7 May 2019 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

19/11470/LIPCH Premises Licence – Change of 
Licensee Details 

3 October 2019 Granted under 
Delegated 
Authority 

 
There is no appeal history for the premises. 

 
Licensing Act 2003 History  
Shadow Licence 21/05216/LIPN 

Application Details of 
Application 

Date Determined Decision 

21/05216/LIPN Application for a 
Premises Licence 

25 June 2021 Granted under 
Delegated Authority 

21/14573/LIPV Application to Vary a 
Premises Licence – 
Change the Layout 

 Pending Decision 

 
There is no appeal history for the premises. 
 
Temporary Event Notices 

Application Details of 
Application 

Date Determined Decision 

19/05828/LITENP Temporary Event 
Notice 

27 June 2019 Notice Granted 

page 181



 
 

Appendix 4 
 
CONDITIONS CONSISTENT WITH THE OPERATING SCHEDULE AND CONDITIONS 
PROPOSED BY A PARTY TO THE HEARING  
 
When determining an application for a new premises licence under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003, the licensing authority must, unless it decides to reject the application, grant 
the licence subject to the conditions which are indicated as mandatory in this schedule. 
 
At a hearing the licensing authority may, in addition, and having regard to any representations 
received, grant the licence subject to such conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule submitted by the applicant as part of their application, or alter or omit these conditions, 
or add any new condition to such extent as the licensing authority considers necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
This schedule lists those conditions which are consistent with the operating schedule, or 
proposed as necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives by a responsible authority 
or an interested party as indicated. These conditions have not been submitted by the licensing 
service but reflect the positions of the applicant, responsible authority or interested party and 
have not necessarily been agreed 
 
Mandatory Conditions 
 
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises 

supervisor in respect of this licence. 
 
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor 

does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended. 
 
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who 

holds a personal licence. 
 
4.          (1)  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry 

out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the 
premises. 

 
(2)  In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the 

following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises— 

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require 

or encourage, individuals to; 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol 
sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in 
which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or 
otherwise); 

 
(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 

discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in 
a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage 

or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or 

page 182



less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing 
objective; 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, 

or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to 
condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects 
of drunkenness in any favourable manner; 

 
 (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than 

where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a 
disability). 

 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 

customers where it is reasonably available. 
 
6.          (1)  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that 

an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the 
sale or supply of alcohol. 

 
(2)  The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must 

ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with 
the age verification policy. 

 

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be 

under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to 

produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their 

photograph, date of birth and either— 

 (a)  a holographic mark, or 

 (b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
7.  The responsible person must ensure that— 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on 

the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up 

in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available 

to customers in the following measures— 

  (i)  beer or cider: ½ pint;  

(ii)  gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 

   (iii)  still wine in a glass: 125 ml; 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material 

which is available to customers on the premises; and 
 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of 

alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are 
available. 

 
A responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the premise licence 
in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if any) or any individual aged 
18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder or designated premises supervisor.  
For premises with a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity that which enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol. 

page 183



 
8(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or 

off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 
8(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above - 
 

(a)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 
1979; 

 
(b)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula - 

 
P = D+(DxV) 

 
Where - 

  
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty     

were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if 

the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the 
alcohol; 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 

force a premises licence - 
   

(i)  the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, 

or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of    

alcohol under such a licence; 
 

(d)   "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply 
in question; and 

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 

Added Tax Act 1994. 
 
8(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this 

paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph 
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the 
nearest penny. 

 
8(iv).     (1)  Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by 

Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the 
permitted price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the 
rate of duty or value added tax. 

(2)  The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or 
supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days 
beginning on the second day. 

 
Conditions consistent with the operating schedule 
 
9. (a) The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the  

minimum requirements of the Westminster Police Licensing Team.  
(b)  All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every  

page 184



person entering in any light condition.  
(c)  The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable  
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises and will  
include the external area immediately outside the premises entrance.  
(d)  All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time  
stamping.  
(e)  Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of  
Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31-day period. 
 

10. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV 
system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is open. This staff 
member must be able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent 
CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when requested. 
 

11. There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the premises at all times when the 
premises are authorised to sell alcohol.  
 

12. No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall 
emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the 
premises which gives rise to a nuisance. 

    
13. Loudspeakers shall not be located in the entrance and exit of the premises or outside 

the building. 
 

14. All windows and external doors shall be kept closed after 00.00 hours, or at any time 
when regulated entertainment takes place, except for the immediate access and egress 
of persons. 

 
15. There shall be no sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises after 00.00 hours.  

 
16. All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed containers only, 

and shall not be consumed on the premises 
 
17. Alcohol consumed outside the premises building shall only be consumed by patrons 

seated at tables. 
 
18. All outside tables and chairs shall be rendered unusable by 00.00 hours each day.  

 
19. Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits requesting patrons to respect the 

needs of local residents and businesses and leave the area quietly. 
 

20. Notices shall be prominently displayed at any area used for smoking requesting patrons 
to respect the needs of local residents and use the area quietly. 

 
21. A direct telephone number for the manager at the premises shall be publicly available at 

all times the premises is open. This telephone number is to be made available to 
residents and businesses in the vicinity.  
 

22. All waste shall be properly presented and placed out for collection no earlier than 30 
minutes before the scheduled collection times. 
 

23. No waste or recyclable materials, including bottles, shall be moved, removed from or 
placed in outside areas between 23.00 hours and 08.00 hours on the following day. 
 

24. No collections of waste or recycling materials (including bottles) from the premises shall 
take place between 23.00 and 08.00 hours on the following day. 

page 185



25. The number of persons permitted in the premises at any one-time (excluding staff) shall 
not exceed [  ] persons. 
 

26. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person seated taking a 
substantial table meal there and for consumption by such a person as ancillary to their 
meal save for the areas marked rear room on the ground floor colour washed blue and 
the area marked mezzanine on the deposited plan colour washed blue between the 
hours of 11.00 and 21.00 on any day and subject to condition 19. 
 
 

27. Notwithstanding condition 18 alcohol may be supplied and consumed prior to their meal 
at any time in the bar area hatched green on the plan, by up to a maximum at any one 
time, of 8 persons dining at the premises.  
 

28. The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress service only. 
 
29. Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking water, shall be 

available in all parts of the premises where alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption 
on the premises.  
 

30. During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall ensure sufficient 
measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or waste arising or accumulating from 
customers in the area immediately outside the premises, and that this area shall be 
swept and or washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance with 
the approved refuse storage arrangements by close of business 
 

31. There shall be no striptease or nudity, and all persons shall be decently attired at all 
times, except when the premises are operating under the authority of a Sexual 
Entertainment Venue licence. 
 

32. A Challenge 21 or Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises 
where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic 
identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the 
PASS Hologram.  
 

33. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an 
authorised officer of the City Council or the Police. It must be completed within 24 hours 
of the incident and will record the following:  

(a)  all crimes reported to the venue  
(b)  all ejections of patrons  
(c)  any complaints received concerning crime and disorder  
(d)  any incidents of disorder  
(e)  all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons  
(f)  any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment  
(g)  any refusal of the sale of alcohol  
(h)  any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service 
 

34. There shall be no sales of hot food or hot drink for consumption off the premises after 
00.00 hours.  

  
35. The premises licence holder shall ensure that any patrons drinking and/or smoking 

outside the premises do so in an orderly manner and are properly supervised by staff so 
as to ensure that there is no public nuisance or obstruction of the public highway.  
 

36. The premises may remain open for the sale of alcohol and the provision of late-night 
refreshment from the terminal hour for those activities on New Year's Eve through to the 
commencement time for those activities on New Year's Day.  

page 186



 
37. On the morning that Greenwich Mean Time changes to British Summer Time one hour 

will be added to the terminal hour of any activities and to the closing time for the 
premises where the existing terminal hour for the activities and/or closing hour for the 
premises ends after 01.00 hours.  
 

38. The sale and supply of alcohol shall be restricted to alcohol consumed by persons who 
are seated. 

  
Conditions proposed by the Police and not yet agreed by the applicant 
 
39. Staff will receive training in terrorism awareness and procedures adopted by the 

premises licence holder in the event of a terrorist attack at or in the immediate vicinity of 

the premises. Such training will be recorded and updated in line with best practice and a 

copy of the training will be made available to the Metropolitan Police on request. The 

premises licence holder shall ensure that the management team register and 

successfully complete the nationally recognised counter terrorism training product 

referred to as ACT eLearning package or can demonstrate that the ACT eLearning 

product has been successfully completed within the preceding 12 months. 

 
40. A copy of the premises’ dispersal policy shall be made readily available at the premises 

for inspection by a Police Officer and/or an authorised Officer of Westminster City 

Council. 

 
41. A minimum of 1 SIA licensed door supervisor shall be on duty at the premises from 

20:00 hours. The door supervisor will assist in the dispersal of patrons, and they must 

correctly display their SIA licence when on duty.  

 
42. On Wednesday through to Sunday, there shall be a last entry time of 01:00 hours.  

Conditions proposed by the Environmental Health and agreed by the applicant to form 
part of the operating schedule 
 
43. Notwithstanding condition 18, the sale, supply and consumption of alcohol as an 

ancillary to persons taking a substantial table meal shall not apply to persons who are 
attending a bona fide, private, pre-booked function to which members of the public are 
not admitted in the area marked ‘rear room’ on the ground floor colour washed blue and 
the area marked mezzanine and colour washed blue on the deposited plan. 
  

44. Notwithstanding Condition 31 the sale and supply of alcohol for consumption whilst 
seated shall not apply to persons who are attending a bona fide, private, pre-booked 
function to which members of the public are not admitted in the area marked ‘rear room’ 
on the ground floor colour washed blue and the area marked mezzanine and colour 
washed blue on the deposited plan.  

page 187



 
Residential Map and List of Premises in the Vicinity    Appendix 5 

 
Resident Count = 22 
 

Licensed premises within 75 metres of 11-12 Haymarket, London 
 

Licence Number  Trading Name   Address  Premises 
Type  

 Time Period 

21/05216/LIPN (Shadow 
Licence) 

Basement And 
Ground Floor 11-
12 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4BP 

Premises 
Licence - 
Shadow 
Licence 

Monday to Sunday; 
00:00 - 00:00 

19/11470/LIPCH Byron Basement And 
Ground Floor 11-
12 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4BP 

Restaurant Monday to Sunday; 
00:00 - 00:00 

18/13461/LIPVM Farzi Restaurant Basement And 
Ground Floor 
Kings House 10 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4BP 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Thursday; 10:00 - 
23:30 | Friday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:00 

21/11820/LIPDPS Z Hotel Grove House 2 
Orange Street 
London WC2H 
7DF 

Hotel, 3 star or 
under 

Monday to Sunday; 
00:01 - 00:00 

18/08436/LIPVM Theatre Royal Theatre Royal 8 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4HT 

Theatre Saturday; 09:00 - 
00:00 | Sunday; 
14:00 - 00:00 | 

page 188



Monday to Friday; 
09:00 - 04:00 

18/05160/LIPN Rose Bakery 18 - 22 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4DQ 

Cafe Sunday; 12:00 - 
20:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 11:00 - 
20:00 

19/01305/LIPN Not Recorded 69-71 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4RW 

Not Recorded Sunday; 12:00 - 
22:30 | Monday to 
Thursday; 10:00 - 
23:30 | Friday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:00 

18/09986/LIPN Not Recorded 69-71 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4RW 

Not Recorded Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

19/13929/LIPDPS Empire Cinema 62 - 65 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 4RL 

Cinema Monday to Sunday; 
09:00 - 03:00 

21/12350/LIPDPS Spaghetti House Basement South 
And Ground Floor 
South Greener 
House 66-68 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4RF 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

19/07035/LIPDPS Chop Shop Basement Nth And 
Ground Floor 
North Greener 
House 66-68 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4RF 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:00 

17/07252/LIPDPS VietCafe Ground Floor And 
Basement 23 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4DG 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

20/07494/LIPCH Steak And Co. Basement To First 
Floor 24 
Haymarket London 
SW1Y 4DG 

Restaurant Sunday; 10:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
01:00 | Sundays 
before Bank 
Holidays; 10:00 - 
01:00 

06/09838/WCCMAP Andalucia Tapas 
Restaurant 

Basement And 
Ground Floor Front 
4 Panton Street 
London SW1Y 4DL 

Restaurant Monday to Sunday; 
11:00 - 00:00 

15/02331/LIPN The Borough 
Barista 

15 Charles II 
Street London 
SW1Y 4QU 

Cafe Friday; 07:30 - 00:00 
| Saturday; 08:00 - 
00:00 | Sunday; 
08:00 - 22:30 | 
Monday to 
Thursday; 07:30 - 
23:30 

16/00858/LIPDPS Kanada-Ya 3 Panton Street 
London SW1Y 4DL 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
23:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

17/03518/LIPDPS Not Recorded 5 Panton Street Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 

page 189



London SW1Y 4DL 00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

19/06736/LIPDPS The Harold 
Pinter Theatre 

Harold Pinter 
Theatre Panton 
Street London 
SW1Y 4DN 

Theatre Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
00:00 

17/01054/LIPCHT Yori Restaurant Basement And 
Ground Floor 6 
Panton Street 
London SW1Y 4DL 

Restaurant Sunday; 12:00 - 
00:00 | Monday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:30 

16/03554/LIPCH Planet 
Hollywood (UK) 
Ltd 

Ground Floor Right 
St Albans House 
57-60 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4QX 

Restaurant Sunday; 09:00 - 
00:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
01:30 

19/01184/LIPN Not Recorded Ground Floor Left 
St Albans House 
57 - 60 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4QX 

Miscellaneous Sunday; 12:00 - 
22:30 | Friday to 
Saturday; 10:00 - 
00:00 | Sunday to 
Thursday; 10:00 - 
23:30 

19/16049/LIPN (Shadow 
Licence) 

Ground Floor Right 
St Albans House 
57-60 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 
4QX 

Premises 
Licence - 
Shadow 
Licence 

Sunday; 09:00 - 
00:30 | Monday to 
Saturday; 09:00 - 
01:30 

21/10914/LIPCH Haymarket Hotel 1 Suffolk Place 
London SW1Y 
4HX 

Hotel, 4+ star 
or major chain 

Saturday; 07:00 - 
03:00 | Sunday; 
09:00 - 00:00 | 
Monday to Sunday; 
00:00 - 00:00 

 
 

page 190


	Agenda
	1. Micbar Karaoke and Restaurant, Basement, 46 Gerrard Street, W1D 5QH
	2. 145 -147 Edgware Road, W2 2HR
	145 - 147 Edgware Rd_LSC_Report_final.pdf
	Gopuff - Edgware Road Bundle.pdf
	001 - Gopuff Summary Of Application
	002 - Draft Proposed Conditions
	003 - Paddington - Gopuff Site Operational Overview.docx
	004 - Gopuff - Age Restricted Products Training
	004a - Alcohol Refusal Policy
	005 - Gopuff - Safety Training
	006 - Staff Awareness Poster
	007 - Map of Delivery Areas
	008 - Gopuff Letter to Mrs. Sonia Kobeissi 7.2.22
	009 - Pages from Westminster Licensing Policy - Core Hours Policy
	010 - Pages from Westminster Licensing Policy - DC
	011 - Pages from Westminster Licensing Policy - Shops Policy


	3. Americana, Basement and Ground Floor, 11-12 Haymarket, SW1V 4BP

	Button 227: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 226: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 225: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 224: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 223: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 222: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 221: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 220: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 219: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 218: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 217: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 216: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 215: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 

	Button 240: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 239: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 238: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 237: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 236: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 235: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 234: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 233: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 232: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 231: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 230: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 229: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 

	Button 228: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 108: 
	Page 109: 
	Page 110: 
	Page 111: 
	Page 112: 



